
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Apopka 
Planning Commission 

Meeting Agenda 
June 12, 2017 

5:30 PM @ City Council Chambers 
 

I.     CALL TO ORDER 

 
If you wish to appear before the Planning Commission, please submit a “Notice of Intent to Speak” card to the 
Recording Secretary. 

 
II.    OPENING AND INVOCATION 
 
III.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
1 Approve minutes of the Planning Commission special meeting held May 23, 2017. 
 
2 Approve minutes of the Planning Commission special meeting held May 23, 2017. 
 

IV.    PUBLIC HEARING: 
 

1. SPECIAL EXCEPTION - MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY – To allow a Pre-Kindergarten through 
twelfth Grade private school within a property assigned a commercial zoning category of C-1; 
property owned by Platinum Eagles 2011, LLC; applicant is Miracle Grace Academy and located at 
2250 & 2252 East Semoran Boulevard. 

 
2. CHANGE OF ZONING – THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD), from 

Planned Unit Development to Planned Unit Development (New Master Site Plan); for property 
owned by Thompson Hills Estates LLC (Oak Pointe PUD) and located east of Ocoee Apopka 
Road, north of McCormick Road.  (Parcel ID Nos.: 29-21-28-0000-00-011; 29-21-28-0000-00-016; 
29-21-28-0000-00-033; and Portions of: 29-21-28-0000-00-038; 32-21-28-0000-00-004; 32-21-28-
0000-00-030) 

 
V.     SITE PLANS: 

 

1. FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – LAKE LUCIE EQUESTRIAN TRAIL HEAD – Property owned by 
the Orange County Board of County Commissioners and the applicant is Borrelli + Partners, c/a 
Christopher Rice, LA; and located south of the Orange County/Lake County line, west of Rainey 
Road, east of Plymouth Sorrento Road, street address 43 Rainey Road.  (Parcel ID #: 05-20-28-
0000-00-003) 

 
2. MASTER SIGN PLAN – PIEDMONT PLAZA – Owned by  G and I VIII Piedmont Plaza, LLC, c/o 

Greenberg Traurig, P.A., and located south of Semoran Boulevard (SR 436), east of Piedmont-
Wekiwa Rd. (PARCEL ID #(s): 12-21-28-0000-00-003, 12-21-28-0000-00-025 & 12-21-28-0000-00-
024) 

1



Planning Commission Agenda 
June 12, 2017 
Page 2 

 
 

VI.    OLD BUSINESS: 
 
VII.   NEW BUSINESS: 
 
VIII.  ADJOURNMENT: 
 

************************************************************************************************************* 
All interested parties may appear and be heard with respect to this agenda.  Please be advised that, under state law, if you decide to appeal any 
decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or hearing, you will need a record of the proceedings, 
and that, for such purpose, you may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes a testimony and 
evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.   The City of Apopka does not provide a verbatim record.    
 
In accordance with the American with Disabilities Act (ADA), persons with disabilities needing a special accommodation to participate in any of 
these proceedings should contact the City Clerk's Office at 120 East Main Street, Apopka, FL  32703, telephone (407) 703-1704, no less than 48 
hours prior to the proceeding. 
  

2



Planning Commission Agenda 
June 12, 2017 
Page 3 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
1 Approve minutes of the Planning Commission special meeting held May 23, 2017. 
  

3



 
MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING HELD ON MAY 9, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 
IN THE CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, APOPKA, FLORIDA. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: James Greene, Melvin Birdsong, Tony Foster, Linda Laurendeau, Roger 
Simpson, and John Sprinkle 
 
ABSENT: Orange County Public Schools (Non-voting) 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  James Hitt – Community Development Director, David Moon, AICP - Planning 

Manager, Andrew Hand – City Attorney, Pamela Richmond, AICP – Senior Planner, Kyle Wilkes, AICP – 

Planner II, Suzanne Kidd, Mike Liquori, Reed Berlinsky, Frank Heldrich, Theresa Sargent, and Jeanne 

Green – CDD Office Manager/Recording Secretary. 
 
OPENING AND INVOCATION:  Chairman Greene called the meeting to order and asked for a moment 
of silent prayer.  The Pledge of Allegiance followed. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Chairperson Greene asked if there were any corrections or additions to the 
regular meeting minutes of April 11, 2017, at 5:30 p.m.   
 
Motion: Melvin Birdsong made a motion to approve the Planning Commission minutes from 

the regular meeting held on April 11, 2017, at 5:30 p.m. and seconded by Roger 
Simpson.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Melvin Birdsong, Tony Foster, Linda 
Laurendeau, and Roger Simpson (5-0). 

 
John Sprinkle arrived at 5:35 p.m. 
 
SWEARING-IN – Attorney Hand swore-in staff, the petitioners, and affected parties for the quasi-judicial 
items to be discussed. 
 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN/PLAT – VISTAS AT WATERS EDGE - 
Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to recommend approval of the Final Development Plan and Plat 
for Vistas at Waters Edge.  The owner/applicant is Vistas at Waters Edge, LLC.  The engineer is Madden, 
Moorhead & Stokes, Inc. c/o David Stokes, P.E.  The property is located south of Hooper Farms Road and 
west of Binion Road. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No one 
spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No one spoke. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Mr. Moon stated this is a request to recommend approval of the Final Development Plan 
and Plat for Vistas at Waters Edge.  The owner/applicant is Vistas at Waters Edge, LLC.  The engineer is 
Madden, Moorhead & Stokes, Inc. c/o David Stokes, P.E.  The property is located south of Hooper Farms 
Road and west of Binion Road.  The existing use is vacant land.  The future land use is Mixed Use (max.15 
du/ac) and the zoning is Mixed-EC.  The proposed development is a single-family residential subdivision 
with 147 lots.  The lots are being proposed with a typical width range of 60 ft. to 75 ft.  The square footage 
pf the lots range from a minimum of 7,500 sq. ft. to 24,000 sq. ft.  The proposed density is 1.97 du/ac.  The 
tract size is 75.24 +/- acres, of which 74.54 +/- acres are developable.  There is also 21.52 +/- acres being 
designated as open space. 
 
 

4



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING HELD ON MAY 9, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
2 of 4 

 

 

The Vistas at Water’s Edge- Master Plan/ Preliminary Development Plan proposes the development of 147 

single family residential lots and 21.52 acres of active and passive recreation space.  Located within the 

Mixed-EC zoning district, the Vistas provides a diversity of lot widths and lots sizes as follows: 

 

Lot Widths 

(Typical) 
Number Percentage 

60 101 68.03 

65 3 2.04 

70 39 27.21 

75 4 2.72 

 

The proposed minimum living area, in aggregate of 2,000 square feet, with a no individual unit being less 

than 1,600 square feet as set forth in Section 2.02.20.B.4 of the Land Development Code.     At the time of 

the final development plan, developer will be requested to establish criteria to assure a 2,000 sq. ft. 

aggregate is monitored and maintained during the building permit application cycle. 

 

The minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 

 

Setback 
Min. 

Standard 

Front* 25’ 

Side 10’ 

Rear 20’ 

Corner 25’ 

*Front-entry garage must be setback 30 feet. 

 
Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via full access onto Binion Road with a secondary 
gated emergency and pedestrian access point west of lot 115 connecting to Binion Road. 
 
There are two (2) retention ponds designed to meet the City’s Land Development Code requirements. 
 
Per Section 2.02.20.H.4a of the Land Development Code, developments made up of less than 300 units 
shall be required to construct a minimum total of 2,000 sq. ft. of facility or facilities for a Neighborhood 
Activity Center. The developer is providing 21.52 acres of active and passive recreation space and is 
proposing to construct a 1,720 s.f. clubhouse with swimming pool, picnic area and yoga lawn within the 
active recreational space. Up to 25% of the Neighborhood Activity Center may be in open type facilities.  
The developer agreed to place a 30-foot wide landscape buffer along Binion Road and to construct an 11-
foot wide multi-use trail.  The trail will be dedicated to the City as part of the East Shore Trail System.  
Furthermore, the Master Plan\PDP included passive parks (aka landscaped focal points) at strategic 
locations to break up long rows of homes and also provide views of Lake Apopka.  
 

The applicant has provided a thirty (30) feet wide landscape buffer along Binion Road with an eleven (11) 

feet wide multi-use trail.  The applicant has proposed to use a combination of decorative precast and 

wrought-iron style fence material Binion Road. 

 

The following is a summary of the tree replacement program for this project: 

 

 

 
5



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING HELD ON MAY 9, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
3 of 4 

 

 

Total inches on-site:        2592 

Total number of specimen trees: 29 

Total inches removed:  1725 

Total inches retained: 867 

Total inches replaced:  1725 

Total Inches (Post Development): 2592 

 

Developer has obtained a school concurrency mitigation agreement with Orange County Public Schools to 

address school impacts generated by this residential development. The schools zoned to receive students 

from this community are the following: Apopka Elementary School, Wolf Lake Middle School and Wekiva 

High School.  

 

The County was notified at the time of the subdivision plan and plat for this property through the DRC 

agenda distribution.  

 

The conditions of approval are as follows: 

  

1) Add a note that all lots are subject to a five (5.0) foot Street Tree Easement which is located adjacent 

to the ten foot drainage.  This easement is shown on the final development plans. 

 

2) Add a note that all lots are subject to a five (5.0) foot side yard drainage and utility easement and 

these easements should be shown on the plat. 

 

3) Add a note that all lots are subject to a 7.5 foot drainage and utility easement on the rear lot lines 

and these easements should be shown on the plat. 

 

4) Need to show and add a note that there is a five (5.0) foot drainage and utility easement around the 

lift station (Tract LS-1) granted to the City of Apopka for the maintenance of the lift station walls. 

 

5) Add a note and better define the 30 foot easement as a “30 foot Drainage Easement” on lots 62 – 

100. 

 

6) Add a note that states that the 20.0 foot utility easement in Tract OS-3 is dedicated to the City of 

Apopka. 

 

7) Sidewalk needs to be placed within Tract AC-1 and HOA shall be responsible for maintenance of 

sidewalk. Tract AC-1 Must state that City of Apopka has right to access the tract or state that an 

easement is placed upon it. 

 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Vistas at Waters Edge – Final 

Development Plan\Plat subject to the final review by the City surveyor and city engineer prior to recording 

the plat. 

 

Staff recommends the Planning Commission recommend approval of the Vistas at Waters Edge – Final 

Development Plan and Plat subject to the Conditions of Approval and final review by the City surveyor and 

city engineer prior to recording the plat. 

 

 
6



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING HELD ON MAY 9, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
4 of 4 

 

The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council to 

approve, deny, or approve with conditions based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Code.     

 

This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and 

made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

In response to a question by Ms. Laurendeau, Mr. Moon stated that the sidewalk at the emergency entrance 
will be constructed. 
 
Petitioner Presentation: David A. Stokes, P.E., Madden, Moorhead & Stokes, Inc., 431 E. Horatio Avenue, 
Suite 260, Maitland, Florida, stated he wanted to clarify that the number of units is 143 and not the 147 
mentioned in the staff report.  He reiterated that the sidewalk would remain adjacent to the emergency 
entrance and that he was available to answer any other questions.                                         
 
Affected Party Presentation:  None. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.   With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson 
Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Linda Laurendeau made a motion to find the application consistent with the Apopka 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code, and recommend approval of the 
Final Development Plan and Plat for Vistas at Waters Edge, subject to the conditions 
of approval, for the property owned by Vistas at Waters Edge, LLC, and located south 
of Hooper Farms Road and west of Binion Road.  Motion seconded by Tony Foster. 
Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Melvin Birdsong, Tony Foster, Linda 
Laurendeau, Roger Simpson, and John Sprinkle. (6-0) (Vote taken by poll.) 

 
OLD BUSINESS:  None. 
 

NEW BUSINESS:  James Hitt, FRA-RA, Community Development Director, announced that there will 

be a Special Planning Commission meeting held on May 23, 2017, starting at 5:30 p.m.  The Commission 

will be asked to make recommendations to City Council on the Community Redevelopment Plan 2017 

update; the Kelly Park Crossing Form Based Code; and the MU-KPI zoning code. 

 

Additionally, Mr. Hitt reminded the Planning Commission members that there will be a joint workshop 

with City Council and Planning Commission, on May 25, 2017, at 4:00, for a presentation and review of 

the proposed Land Development Code update assessment being presented by the City’s consultant, Clarion.  
 
ADJOURNMENT:   The meeting was adjourned at 5:40 p.m. 
 
 
 
James Greene, Chairperson 
 
 
 
James K. Hitt  
Community Development Director 

 

7



Planning Commission Agenda 
June 12, 2017 
Page 8 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
2 Approve minutes of the Planning Commission special meeting held May 23, 2017. 
  

8



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MAY 23, 2017, 

AT 5:30 P.M. IN THE CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, APOPKA, FLORIDA. 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT: James Greene, Melvin Birdsong, Tony Foster, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, 

Roger Simpson, and John Sprinkle 

 

ABSENT: Orange County Public Schools (Non-voting) 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  James Hitt – Community Development Director, David Moon, AICP - Planning 

Manager, Andrew Hand – City Attorney, Kyle Wilkes, AICP – Planner II, Robert Sargent – Public 

Information Officer, Police Chief Michael McKinley, Fire Chief Charles “Chuck” Carnesale, Captain 

Randall Fernandez, Pat Tyjeski – S&ME, Suzanne Kidd, Theresa Sargent, Jeff Welch, Joel Ivey, Ed 

Velazquez, Jose Cantero, David Emmel, Jean Emmel, Miranda Fitzgerald, Erika Hughes, Jeb Bittner, Rich 

Thometz, Elliot Meyer, Alexander H. Smith, Vanessa Cruz, Dustin McGlinchey, and Jeanne Green – Office 

Manager/Recording Secretary. 

 

OPENING AND INVOCATION:  Chairman Greene called the meeting to order and asked for a moment 

of silent prayer.  The Pledge of Allegiance followed. 

 

LEGISLATIVE – CODE OF ORDINANCES, PART III, LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

AMENDMENT – EXTENSION OF THE TEMPORARY MORATORIUM ON MEDICAL 

CANNIBIS DISPENSARIES - Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to recommend approval of the 

extension of the temporary moratorium on the dispensing of medical cannabis within the City of Apopka; 

prohibiting any and all dispensing of medical cannabis during the moratorium period for any property 

within the City of Apopka; adopting findings of fact; providing definition; and providing an effective date. 

 

Staff Presentation:  David Moon, ACIP, Planning Manager, stated that on May 6, 2015 City Council adopted 

a medical marijuana ordinance (Ord. No. 2388) that establishes regulations for the cultivation and processing 

of cannabis, and dispensing of medical marijuana within the City of Apopka through Ordinance No. 2388. On 

November 16, 2016 City Council adopted a moratorium until May 31, 2017 on the dispensing of medical 

marijuana.  The moratorium does not affect the cultivation or process of cannabis.  Ordinance 2569 proposes to 

extend the moratorium on the dispensing of medical marijuana.  

 

City Council’s adoption of the current medical marijuana ordinance (Ord. No. 2388) occurred in reaction to 

Florida government enacting the Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act of 2014, which became effective on 

January 1, 2015.  On November 8 Florida voters will decide whether Florida medical marijuana laws and 

administrative rules should be change to expand applications for medical use of marijuana.   The proposed 2016 

constitutional amendment addresses has three components: (1) Physician certification, (2) Patient and caregiver 

identification cards, and (3) Medical Marijuana Treatment Center registration and regulation. 

 

The moratorium (Ord. No. 2526) was needed to because staff believes it is in the best interest of the City to 

place a temporary moratorium on the dispensing of medical marijuana.  Staff will monitor the development of 

the new DOH rules and recommend amendments to the City’s current medical marijuana ordinance based on 

the effect that these new rules may have on the interests and goals City Council desires for the Apopka 

community. 

 

As the State Department of Health has not yet finalized and adopted rules as of May 1, 2017, staff has not had 

adequate time to evaluate the impact of the State’s medical marijuana rules will have on the City’s medical 

marijuana ordinance.  Therefore, staff is requesting an extension of the current moratorium on medical 

marijuana dispensing until August 30, 2017. 

9



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MAY 23, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
2 of 8 

 

 

Staff’s recommendation to the Planning Commission is to recommend adoptions of Ordinance No. 2569. 

 

In response to questions by Mr. Foster, Mr. Moon stated that a referendum was adopted that allowed for 

the sale of medical cannabis that provided more flexibility that was allowed under the previous legislation 

under what was called “Charlotte’s Web.”  The original legislation limited the level of THC to be processed 

and the referendum raised the level of THC allowed.  The State, through the Florida Department of Health 

to prepare rules on the dispensing of the medical cannabis.  Those rules are still in the review process and 

that is why the extension of the temporary moratorium is being requested.  The moratorium only affects 

the dispensing.  It does not apply to the cultivation or processing.  Both the Keene/Clarcona Road and 

Hermit Smith/Hogshead Designated Grow Areas are zoned primarily Agricultural.  There are a few 

residences and churches in those areas but the primary uses are agricultural in nature.  These areas were 

chosen due to their distance from residential areas as there is an odor associated with cultivating and 

processing. 

 

In response to questions by Mr. Foster, Police Chief McKinley stated that most of the areas are agricultural.  

He said that since the referendum that was passed there have been changes to the definitions several times.  

He said the Florida Department of Health must have the rules for the dispensing of medical cannabis but 

the end of July.  Once those rules are approved, then staff can update the current ordinance with the 

approved language to make sure the community is safe. 

 

In response to a comment by Chairperson Greene, Chief McKinley that the request to an extension to the 

moratorium is for the dispensing and not cultivation or processing.  He said staff wants to ensure to have 

the approved language and definitions in the ordinance and to ensure that the dispensing is in areas that are 

not close to residential areas and will not affect the quality of life of the City residents. 

 

Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.   With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson 

Greene closed the public hearing.  

 

Motion:   Tony Foster made a motion to recommend adoption of Ordinance No. 2569 to extend 

the temporary moratorium on the dispensing of medical cannabis within the City of 

Apopka until August 30, 2017.  Motion seconded by John Sprinkle.  Aye votes were 

cast by James Greene, Melvin Birdsong, Tony Foster, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, 

Roger Simpson, and John Sprinkle (7-0).  (Vote taken by poll.) 

 

LEGISLATIVE - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE 

AMENDMENT – GEORGE THUM, JR – Item pulled from the agenda at the applicant’s request.  

 

QUASI-JUDICIAL - CHANGE OF ZONING – GEORGE THUM, JR - Item pulled from the agenda 

at the applicant’s request.  

 

LEGISLATIVE – The Apopka Community Redevelopment Agency’s CRA Redevelopment Plan 

2017 ~ Update - Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to find the proposed update consistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan and to recommend approval of the proposed Apopka Community Redevelopment 

Agency’s CRA Redevelopment Plan 2017. 

 

Staff Presentation:  James Hitt, FRA-RA, Community Development Director, stated the Community 

Redevelopment Agency (CRA) and the Apopka City Council approved the first Redevelopment Plan in June 

1993. Between the CRA Plan adoption and 2005, numerous projects had been completed that included the 
10



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MAY 23, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
3 of 8 

 

following:  State Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) Grants from the State totaling $1.5 million 

completed streetscapes on Main Street, Park Avenue, and the original façade program began; the template for 

the sidewalk replacement program was originated; and new street lighting was completed on various streets in 

the CRA District.  

 

Since 2005, other projects have continued that included the expansion of the sidewalk and street light programs, 

and support for economic business development. In addition, new FDOT street lights were installed on Main 

Street that were more in tune with the size of the street.  

 

In 2006, a revision to the CRA Redevelopment Plan was produced but never adopted. Any new projects could 

not be established until approved with a new plan. If a project or program is not in the plan, it cannot be paid 

for by Tax Increment funds.  

 

The new CRA Plan 2017 ~ update provides for projects and programs that include multiple opportunities for 

reinvestment into the CRA District. Primary projects include acquisition and renovation of the 5th Street Parking 

Lot, which was in the original 1993 Plan and is in the center of Apopka’s downtown; the Station Street Shopping 

Plaza (aka DAT-Downtown Apopka Triangle) that will be a focal event location with shops, up to 45 residential 

units, parking, and an events plaza with a pavilion; the Residential Fee Assistance Program, that will help with 

new affordable house by paying down impact fees; the 6th Street Promenade with a Multi-Use Trail starting at 

Central Ave, down Station Street to 6th Street and to the West Orange Trail, and eventually to the City Center; 

a multi-use trail connecting the Station Street project to Alonzo Williams Park; and, reinstatement of the Façade 

Renovation Program for commercial buildings.  

 

Other projects will be introduced as funds become available.  

 

The CRA Redevelopment Plan 2017 ~ update will be in effect upon passage of this resolution. Budget 

amendments during this fiscal year 2017 would need to be completed in order to start some of the programs and 

projects.  

 

Comprehensive Plan conformance:  Attached are the sections of the Comprehensive Plan that are directly 

associated with the CRA Redevelopment Plan 2017 ~ update. The Land Use Analysis section has a summary. 

Objectives 2, 3 and 5 have Policies that pertain to the CRA Plan. This plan addresses the following:  

 

o Use of the definitions provided for in Chapter 163 Part III as it pertains to CRA’s  

o Updates and funding mechanisms.  

o Addressing parking issues.  

o Use of the CRA design guidelines was already put into practice along with the Apopka Design guidelines.  

o Off-site drainage facilities for the downtown was created with the construction of Martin Pond.  

o The new CRA Plan promotes mixed use and addresses the historical nature of the downtown.  

o The CRA Overlay District was previously created.  

o New programs and projects are created and continued with this new Plan.  

 

The CRA Redevelopment Trust Fund, established by Ordinance No. 783 on June 16, 1993 utilizing Tax 

Increment Funding (TIF); State grants & programs; donations.  

 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval of the new CRA Redevelopment 

Plan 2017 ~ update as to its conformity with the Comprehensive Plan, and recommend approval of 

Resolution No. 2017-10 to the Apopka City Council. 

 

11



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MAY 23, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
4 of 8 

 

Mr. Hitt had prepared the original Community Redevelopment Plan in 1993, Ms. Laurendeau commented 

that is was very nice to have someone who is so familiar with the plan and welcomed him back with the 

City.  She also voiced her support of the triangle. 

 

In response to questions by Mr. Molina, Mr. Hitt stated that this plan does not affect the local sales tax.  He 

stated that as of the first CRA Plan, adopted in 1993, whatever amount of property taxes you have paid or 

will pay above your 1993 property tax rate, including the Orange County taxes, goes towards the 

Community Redevelopment Area Trust Fund.  One project that may occur is affordable housing in the way 

of infill by using trust funds to cover impact fees for Fire, Police, Transportation, water, sewer.  The 

Property Appraiser makes adjustments to the property taxes and are limited to three percent increases per 

year.  There is currently 2.3 million dollars in that trust fund.  The trust fund is self-perpetuating.   

 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.   With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson Greene 

closed the public hearing.  

 

Motion:   Melvin Birdsong made a motion to find the proposed CRA Redevelopment Plan 2017 ~ 

Update consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and to recommend approval of Resolution 

No. 2017-10.  Motion seconded by Roger Simpson.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, 

Melvin Birdsong, Tony Foster, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, Roger Simpson, and John 

Sprinkle (7-0).  (Vote taken by poll.) 

 

Mr. Hitt announced that the CRA Redevelopment Plan ~ 2017 will be brought before the Community 

Redevelopment Agency and the City Council on June 21, 2017.   The Community Redevelopment Agency will 

meet at 6:00 p.m. and the City Council at 7:00. 

 

LEGISLATIVE – KELLY PARK CROSSING FORM BASED CODE (AKA WEKIVA PARKWAY 

FORM BASED CODE) - Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to find the proposed amendment 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and to recommend approval of the proposed Kelly Park Crossing 

Form Based Code. 

  

Staff Presentation:  Pat Tyjeski, AICP, Senior Planner, S&ME [a.k.a. Littlejohn Engineering], 1615 

Edgewater Drive, Suite 200, Orlando, FL 32804, stated a form-based code must be used to guide development 

within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan area. A form-based code is a means of guiding and regulating 

development to achieve a specific urban form or character. Form-based codes create a predictable public realm 

by guiding physical urban form – such as building design and scale while placing less focus on land use or 

zoning. 

 

The Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan, adopted September 15, 2010, promotes the use of a form-based code 

for the area surrounding the proposed interchange at Kelly Park Road.  A primary purpose of the proposed 

development standards is to create a sustainable community in the Interchange area – a place where people can 

live, work, play and shop. Objective 19 of the Future Land Use Element (Comp Plan) directs the City to 

implement a form-based code to further the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan.  

 

The proposed form-based code addresses block and street standards, design and mass of buildings, signage, and 

landscaping.  This code is only applicable to the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan area, now called the Kelly 

Park Crossing area. 

 

The form based code is scheduled to be presented for first reading at the June 7, 2017, City Council meeting 

at 1:30 p.m. and the second reading will be held on June 21, 2017, at 7:00 p.m.  He said the process for a 

implementing the form based code is to amend the future land use on a property to the Mixed Use 

12



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MAY 23, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
5 of 8 

 

Interchange designation.  The future land use amendment is presented to the Planning Commission for a 

recommendation to the City Council and then the City Council makes the final decision.  The next step is 

to change the zoning to the Mixed Use Interchange Zoning designation.  The change of zoning is presented 

to the Planning Commission for a recommendation to the City Council and then the City Council makes 

the final decision.  Once the future land use and zoning have been changed, the next step is the presentation 

of the Overlay District and Master Plan that will include boundaries, areas, design themes, and streets. The 

future land use amendment is presented to the Planning Commission for a recommendation to the City 

Council and then the City Council makes the final decision.  Any requests for variances or special 

exceptions will be brought before the Planning Commission for final decision.  Once the Overlay District 

and Master Plan have been approved, the next step is the development plan and constructions plans.  These 

will provide details of the site plans and architectural plans.  These plans will be provided to the 

Development Review Committee and the Community Development Director for review. 

 

Staff’s recommendation to the Planning Commission is to find the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code for 

the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area to be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and Recommend 

that City Council adopt this Code. 

 

In response to concerns expressed by Mr. Molina, Ms. Tyjeski stated that due to the distance between the 

downtown area and the Kelly Park Crossing Interchange, the development will have very little effect on the 

downtown area.  She said the idea was to make both areas walkable for the residents in those areas.  She said 

that many areas have more than one activity node.  The number of activity nodes are based on population 

projections. 

 

Mr. Moon stated that the state legislature limits and controls all interchanges in Florida.  Due to the limited 

number of interchanges in this area, there is going to be interest by companies wanting to development in the 

area because of the access to S.R. 429. 

 

Mr. Foster stated that Winter Park and Winter Garden both have this same type of development. 
 

Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.    

 

David Emmel, 3536 Ondich Road, expressed his opposition to the plan and concerns regarding how it would 

affect his property and the possible creation of enclaves. 

 

Mr. Moon stated that Mr. Emmel resides in Unincorporated Orange County.  This plan was mandated by the 

Legislature in relation to the protection of the Wekiva River and Wekiva Springs.  The Florida Legislation 

controls and limits the number of interchanges along S.R. 429. 

 

In response to a question by Mr. Emmel, Mr. Hitt stated that the City and Orange County entered into a Joint 

Planning Agreement that controls the annexation of enclaves.  He added that the City does not force properties 

to annex. 

 

Mr. Moon stated that Orange County has reviewed the proposed form based code and did not have any 

objections. 

 

Miranda Fitzgerald, Esq., Lowndes, Drosdick, Doster, Kantor & Reed, P.A., 215 N. Eola Drive, Orlando, 

stated she is representing Publix.  They plan to development in the Kelly Park Crossing area and have asked 

for more flexibility in the Kelly Park Crossing Form Based Code.  They have concerns regarding the 

increase in intensity.  In particular the Floor Area Ratio (FAR) which is 0.3 FAR.  They are currently under 

contract for a 9 acre tract that includes some outparcels and want to build a 46,000 sq. ft. store.  Under the 

13



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MAY 23, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
6 of 8 

 

0.3 FAR they would be required to build a store that is 117,000 sq. ft. which is not feasible for Publix at 

this time.  The market would not support a store that size.  What they need is 0.15 FAR.  Additionally, the 

maximum allowable block width is 300 linear feet.  Their building is longer than 300 feet. 

 

Ms. Fitzgerald expressed concerns that the plan is very optimistic in the manner that it transitions from 

rural to urban.  She does not believe there are not enough roof tops to warrant the transition being proposed.  

She stated that without the plan being more flexible, applicants are going to have to request more variances.  

Staff has the latitude to approve up to variances up to 10%; however any variance request that is brought 

before the Planning Commission could not include a self-created hardship.  At some point the City may be 

inundated with variance requests.  It would be better if more flexibility is included in the initial plan to 

avoid that happening. 

 

Mr. Moon stated that staff is taking those concerns into consideration and will continue working with Ms. 

Tyjeski on recommendations based on market demands and changes that will occur over time. 

 

Erika Hughes, VHB, 225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300, Orlando, expressed concerns with inconsistencies 

in the proposed form based code when referring an applicant to other documents.  During their review they 

found several instances where they were referred to the development design guidelines that contradicted 

what was in the form based code. 

 

In response to a question by Mr. Foster, Ms. Hughes stated that she was representing VHB and a couple of 

property owners in the area.  She said she submitted a letter to staff that expresses their concerns. 

 

In response to a question by Mr. Simpson, Mr. Moon stated that several pre-application meetings will be 

held prior to development occurring. 

 

Chairperson Greene said that the Planning Commission makes recommendations to the City Council.  Any 

issues or concerns may also be brought before the City Council. 

 

Joel Ivey, Ivey Planning Group, LLC, 691 Keeneland Pike, Lake Mary, stated that he represents Rochelle 

Holdings, LLC.  Rochelle Holdings is the applicant for the Kelly Park Crossing DRI.  The entitlement 

program has been submitted, reviewed, and approved by the City.  This includes approximately 1,500 + 

residential units, a few million square feet of retail, a few million feet of office/warehouse/industrial and 

other uses such as hospital and a college.  We have worked with staff with regard to the form based code 

for some time.  We encourage the Commission to recommend approval to the City Council.  We have 

concerns as well such as the flexibility and will continue to work with staff.  We have concerns about the 

floor area ration and the prohibition of cul-de-sacs.  He said he is very optimistic that these issues can be 

worked out. 

 

Jimmy Crawford, Merideth Nagel Law Firm, 1201 W. Hwy. 50, Clermont, stated that he represents Cantero 

Holdings, which owns 88 acres in the area being discussed.  He expressed his concerns regarding the lack 

of flexibility.  He said they see flexibility in implementation is key to any development.  He expressed 

concerns about requiring variances which most developers would not be able to meet that code. 

  
With no one else wishing to speak, Chairperson Greene closed the public hearing.  

 

In response to a question by Mr. Molina, Mr. Moon stated that there are a number of property owners who are 

ready to move forward.  Currently the Land Development Code is being updated and the form based code must 

be consistent with that code.  There is an opportunity to compare the two to ensure compatibility between the 

14



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MAY 23, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
7 of 8 

 

two codes.  We don’t want to miss the economic opportunity.  The form based code may not meet the needs to 

all of the applicants wanting to come to this area and there will probably be amendments to the code.  He said 

Winter Park Village used to be a mall and was converted into a form based code development.  As more 

residential development moves into that area there will be more intense commercial development. 

 

In response to questions by Mr. Molina, Ms. Tyjeski stated that there is a section called modification of 

standards.  We did not want everyone to have to come in and file a variance.  What this means is if someone 

comes in for a modification that is 10% or less, the modification can be approved administratively.  If the 

modification is 10 to 30% it will go before the Planning Commission.  If the modification is 30% or more then 

we are getting into the area of why have the requirement, then there needs to be a hardship.  That is when a 

variance would be required.  There are review criteria to determine the percentage of modification. 

 

Mr. Moon stated that Baldwin Park and Celebration are similar types of development; however there were only 

one or two owners is those areas.  This area is different due to the large number of owners. 

 

Motion:   Roger Simpson made a motion to find the proposed Kelly Park Crossing Form Based Code 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and to recommend approval of same.  Motion 

seconded by John Sprinkle.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Melvin Birdsong, Tony 

Foster, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, Roger Simpson, and John Sprinkle (7-0).  (Vote 

taken by poll.) 

 

LEGISLATIVE – KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE MIXED USE ZONING DISTRICT - 

Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to find the proposed amendment consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan and to recommend approval of the proposed Kelly Park Crossing Form Based Code. 

  

Staff Presentation:  Ms. Tyjeski stated that local governments hosting an interchange along the proposed 

Wekiva Parkway are mandated by the Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act, Chapter 369.321, Florida 

Statutes, to adopt an interchange land use plan into their comprehensive plans.  To address this State 

mandate, in September 2010 0 the City Council approved the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan.  

Recommendations from this study have been incorporated into the Comprehensive Plan in 2011.  

 

Policy 20.4, Future Land Use Element, of the Comprehensive Plan requires the City to adopt a Form-Based 

Code prior to adopting any development plan within the Kelly Park Interchange area.  Also, Policy 20.21 

requires a Mixed Use Interchange Zoning District for land within the Kelly Park Interchange Area. 

 

The proposed Kelly Park Mixed Use Zoning District and the Form Base Code satisfy the requirements set 

forth in the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  Applicable only to lands within or straddling the Kelly Park 

Interchange Vision Area (aka Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area), the Kelly Park Interchange 

Mixed Use District will also be supported by a Form-Based Code to guide land development and use of 

land. 

 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the amendment to the City of Apopka, 

Code of Ordinances, Part III, Land Development Code, Article II – to create a new section 2.02.21 entitled 

“Kelly Park Interchange Mixed Use Zoning District.” 

 

The Staff recommends approval of the amendment to the City of Apopka, Code of Ordinances, Part III, 

Land Development Code, Article II to create a new section 2.02.21 entitled “Kelly Park Interchange Mixed 

Use Zoning District.” 
 

15



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MAY 23, 2017, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

 
8 of 8 

 

Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.   With no one wishing to speak, Chairperson Greene 

closed the public hearing.  

 

Motion:   Linda Laurendeau made a motion to find the proposed Land Development Code, Article 

II, Kelly Park Crossing Mixed Use zoning district consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 

and recommend approval of the Kelly Park Crossing Mixed Use Zoning District.  Motion 

seconded by Tony Foster.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Melvin Birdsong, Tony 

Foster, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, Roger Simpson, and John Sprinkle (7-0).  (Vote 

taken by poll.) 

 

OLD BUSINESS:  None. 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  Mr. Foster stated that when he was in Toledo, Ohio, he went into what they call “The Hen 

Store” to purchase his wife a Toledo Mud Hen jersey.  He suggested that Apopka should come up with 

something similar. 

  

ADJOURNMENT:  The meeting was adjourned at 7:19 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
James Greene, Chairperson 
 
 
 
 
James K. Hitt  
Community Development Director 

 

16



Planning Commission Agenda 
June 12, 2017 
Page 17 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
1. SPECIAL EXCEPTION - MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY – To allow a Pre-Kindergarten through twelfth Grade 

private school within a property assigned a commercial zoning category of C-1; property owned by Platinum 
Eagles 2011, LLC; applicant is Miracle Grace Academy and located at 2250 & 2252 East Semoran Boulevard. 

  

17



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: June 12, 2017 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  FROM: Community Development 

 PLAT APPROVAL  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Special Exception   Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Existing Uses Map 

    Exhibit ‘A’ – PC 05-24-16 Staff Report 

    Exhibit ‘B’ – PC 05-24-16 Minutes 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: AMENDMENT TO THE MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

 

Parcel ID Number: 12-21-28-0000-00-014 
 

Request: APPROVE AMENDMENT TO THE SPECIAL EXCEPTION TO ALLOW A PRE-

KINDERGARTEN THROUGH TWELFTH GRADE PRIVATE SCHOOL 

WITHIN A PROPERTY ASSIGNED A COMMERCIAL ZONING CATEGORY 

OF C-1. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY: 

 

OWNER:  Platinum Eagles 2011, LLC 

 

APPLICANT:  Miracle Grace Academy 

  

LOCATION:   2250 & 2252 E Semoran Boulevard 

 

LAND USE:   Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) 

 

ZONING:   C-1 (Retail Commercial) 

 

EXISTING USE:  Retail shopping center 

 

PROPOSED USE: Private Pre-Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade school not to exceed 50 students 

or 5,000 sq. ft. in size.  

    

TRACT SIZE:   5.29 +/- acres 

 

 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

DISTRIBUTION: 

Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director   Public Ser. Director  

Commissioners (4)    HR Director    City Clerk    

City Administrator Irby   IT Director    Fire Chief 

Community Dev. Director   Police Chief                   Recreation Director 
 

G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS\Miracle Grace Acad Spec Except Revision\Planning Commission 5 9 17 

18



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  Within the C-1 (Retail Commercial) zoning category, a school is a special 

exception use requires Planning Commission action.  The current special exception allows a pre-kindergarten 

through second grade private school.  The application to amend the approved special exception requests to expand 

the grade levels through twelfth grade, with an anticipated enrollment of 25-35 students.  Location of the school 

remains at the current site --tenant space at 2250 and 2252 East Semoran Blvd. (Wekiva Corners shopping center). 

The applicant received approval in 2016 for a kindergarten through second grade private school.  In addition, the 

applicant will use the tenant space for adult continuing education/tutoring, which is permitted within the C-1 

zoning district.  

 
The property is presently assigned a Future Land Use Designation of “Commercial” and a zoning category of C-
1 (Retail Commercial).  School and institutional uses are allowed as a Special Exception in the C-1 zoning district 
per Section 2.02.02B.5.d of the Land Development Code, provided the use will not create adverse circumstances 
affecting the health, safety, and general welfare of the public. 

 
A. Relationship to Adjacent Properties:    Zoning and existing land use assigned to adjacent and nearby 

properties appears in the attached exhibits.  The character of the area surrounding the subject property is 
described as follows:   

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) C-1 Sonny’s BBQ/Wells Fargo 

East (City) Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) C-1 Muffler Man 

South (City) Residential High (0-15 du/ac) PUD Oasis at Wekiva Apartments 

West (City) Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) C-1 Retail Commercial (Stinson Center) 

 

B. Special Exception Development Standards.  Article II of the Land Development Code establishes 

development standards specific to special exceptions.  These standards are intended to reduce any impacts 

from the proposed special exception use on adjacent properties.  

 

C. Special Exception Conditions of Use.   

 

1. The number of kindergarten pre-kindergarten through second grade twelfth grade students (full-

time equivalent) shall not exceed 50. 

 

2. The total floor area of the proposed private school shall not exceed 5,000 sq. ft., all floor area of 

the school shall be contiguous, and access to all classrooms shall occur from internal to the 

building. 

 

3. No outdoor activities related to this proposed special exception use shall occur except for such 

activities authorized through a special event permit approved by the City. 

 

4. The Special Exception Use only applies to land contained within Parcel No. 12-21-28-0000-00-

014 as of the date of the adoption hearing. 

 

5. This Special Exception authorization expires if (a) the applicant fails to obtain a certificate of 

occupancy or a business tax receipt within two years from the date of the Special Exception 

approval; and (b) the Special Exception Use has vacated the parcel for more than 180 consecutive 

days. 

 19



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 3 

 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

May 26, 2017 - Public Hearing Notice 

 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the amendment to the Miracle Grace Academy 

Special Exception to allow a private Pre-Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade school not to exceed 50 students 

and 5,000 sq. ft. floor area in size within a C-1 zoning district subject to the special exception conditions within 

the Staff Report. 

 

Recommended Motion:   Approve an amendment to the Miracle Grace Academy Special Exception Use to allow 

a private Pre-Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade subject to the Special Exception Conditions of Use at its current 

approved location. 

 

Planning Commission Role - Pursuant to the City of Apopka Code of Ordinances, Part III, Land Development, 

Article XI, Section 11.05.D.1 the Planning Commission has the authority to take final action on a special 

exception application.  Therefore, the Planning Commission may approve, deny or approve with conditions this 

application.  An applicant may appeal the Planning Commission action to the City Council. 
  

20



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 4 

 

 

 

Miracle Grace Academy 

Proposed Amendment to an Approved Special Exception 

To allow a private Pre-Kindergarten – Twelfth Grade school 

Located on property assigned a Commercial Land Use Designation 

5.92 +/- Acres 

Parcel ID #: 12-21-28-0000-00-014 

 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

PROPOSED 

SPECIAL 

EXCEPTION 

LOCATION 

21



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

PROPOSED 

SPECIAL 

EXCEPTION 

LOCATION 

22



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

PROPOSED 

SPECIAL 

EXCEPTION 

LOCATION 

23



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 7 

 

 

 

 

EXISTING USES 

 

 

 

PROPOSED 

SPECIAL 

EXCEPTION 

LOCATION 

24



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: May 24, 2016 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  FROM: Community Development 

 PLAT APPROVAL  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

 OTHER:   Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Existing Uses Map 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY SPECIAL EXCEPTION  
 

Parcel ID Number: 12-21-28-0000-00-014 
 

Request: APPROVE THE SPECIAL EXCEPTION TO ALLOW A KINDERGARTEN 

THROUGH SECOND GRADE PRIVATE SCHOOL WITHIN A PROPERTY 

ASSIGNED A COMMERCIAL ZONING CATEGORY OF C-1. 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY: 

 

OWNER:  Wekiva Corners Inc. 

 

APPLICANT:  Miracle Grace Academy 

  

LOCATION:   2250 & 2252 E Semoran Boulevard 

 

LAND USE:   Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) 

 

ZONING:   C-1 (Retail Commercial) 

 

EXISTING USE:  Retail shopping center 

 

PROPOSED USE: Private Kindergarten through Second Grade school not to exceed 50 students or 

5,000 sq. ft. in size.  

    

TRACT SIZE:   5.29 +/- acres 

 

 

 

 

 

 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

DISTRIBUTION: 

Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director   Public Ser. Director  

Commissioners (4)    HR Director    City Clerk    

City Administrator Irby   IT Director    Fire Chief 

Community Dev. Director   Police Chief                   
 

G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS\Miracle Grace Academy\Planning Commission 05-24-16 Sp Mtg 
25



PLANNING COMMISSION – MAY 24, 2016 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 2 

 

STAFF REPORT:  Within the C-1 (Retail Commercial) zoning category, a school is a special exception use 

requires Planning Commission action.  The current application requests to use the commercial tenant space at 

2250 and 2252 East Semoran Blvd. (Wekiva Corners shopping center) for a kindergarten through second grade 

private school with an anticipated enrollment of 25 to 35 students.  

 
The property is presently assigned a Future Land Use Designation of “Commercial” and a zoning category of C-
1 (Retail Commercial).  School and institutional uses are allowed as a Special Exception in the C-1 zoning district 
per Section 2.02.02B.5.d of the Land Development Code, provided the use will not create adverse circumstances 
affecting the health, safety, and general welfare of the public. 

 
A. Relationship to Adjacent Properties:    Zoning and existing land use assigned to adjacent and nearby 

properties appears in the attached exhibits.  The character of the area surrounding the subject property is 
described as follows:   

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) C-1 Sonny’s BBQ/Wells Fargo 

East (City) Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) C-1 Muffler Man 

South (City) Residential High (0-15 du/ac) PUD Oasis at Wekiva Apartments 

West (City) Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) C-1 Retail Commercial (Stinson Center) 

 

B. Special Exception Development Standards.  Article II of the Land Development Code establishes 

development standards specific to special exceptions.  These standards are intended to reduce any impacts 

from the proposed special exception use on adjacent properties.  

 

C. Special Exception Conditions of Use.   

 

1. The number of kindergarten through second grade students (full-time equivalent) shall not exceed 

50. 

 

2. The total floor area of the proposed private school shall not exceed 5,000 sq. ft., all floor area of 

the school shall be contiguous, and access to all classrooms shall occur from internal to the 

building. 

 

3. No outdoor activities related to this proposed special exception use shall occur except for such 

activities authorized through a special event permit approved by the City. 

 

4. The Special Exception Use only applies to land contained within Parcel No. 12-21-28-0000-00-

014 as of the date of the adoption hearing. 

 

5. This Special Exception authorization expires if (a) the applicant fails to obtain a certificate of 

occupancy or a business tax receipt within two years from the date of the Special Exception 

approval; and (b) the Special Exception Use has vacated the parcel for more than 180 consecutive 

days. 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

April 22, 2016 - Public Hearing Notice 

 

 26



PLANNING COMMISSION – MAY 24, 2016 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 3 

 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Miracle Grace Academy Special Exception 

to allow a private Kindergarten through Second Grade school not to exceed 50 students or 5,000 sq. ft. floor area 

in size within a C-1 zoning district subject to the special exception conditions within the Staff Report. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 10, 2016, Tabled (4/3) the Special Exception request from 

Miracle Grace Academy until the May 24, 2016 meeting to allow the Planning Commission further time to review 

the special exception request. 

 

Recommended Motion:   Approve the Miracle Grace Academy Special Exception Use to allow a private 

Kindergarten through Second Grade subject to the Special Exception Conditions of Use.  

 

Planning Commission Role - Pursuant to the City of Apopka Code of Ordinances, Part III, Land Development, 

Article XI, Section 11.05.D.1 the Planning Commission has the authority to take final action on a special 

exception application.  Therefore, the Planning Commission may approve, deny or approve with conditions this 

application.  An applicant may appeal the Planning Commission action to the City Council. 
  

27



PLANNING COMMISSION – MAY 24, 2016 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 4 

 

 

 

Miracle Grace Academy 

Proposed Special Exception 

To allow a private Kindergarten – Second Grade school 

Located on property assigned a Commercial Land Use Designation 

5.92 +/- Acres 

Parcel ID #: 12-21-28-0000-00-014 

 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

SUBJECT  

PROPERTY 

28



PLANNING COMMISSION – MAY 24, 2016 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING MAP 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

29



PLANNING COMMISSION – MAY 24, 2016 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

30



PLANNING COMMISSION – MAY 24, 2016 

MIRACLE GRACE ACADEMY - SPECIAL EXCEPTION  

PAGE 7 

 

 

 

 

EXISTING USES 

 

 

 

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



Planning Commission Agenda 
June 12, 2017 
Page 40 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
2. CHANGE OF ZONING – THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD), from Planned Unit 

Development to Planned Unit Development (New Master Site Plan); for property owned by Thompson Hills 
Estates LLC (Oak Pointe PUD) and located east of Ocoee Apopka Road, north of McCormick Road.  (Parcel 
ID Nos.: 29-21-28-0000-00-011; 29-21-28-0000-00-016; 29-21-28-0000-00-033; and Portions of: 29-21-28-
0000-00-038; 32-21-28-0000-00-004; 32-21-28-0000-00-030) 

  

40



CITY OF APOPKA 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 12, 2017 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: PUD Master Plan   Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Existing Use Map 

    Master Plan 

    Townhome Architectural Renderings 

    Gate Entrance Feature 

    Plan Inconsistencies 
  

SUBJECT: CHANGE OF ZONING – THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES (OAK POINTE 
SOUTH PUD) 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBERS: 29-21-28-0000-00-011; 29-21-28-0000-00-016; 29-21-28-0000-00-033; and Portions 

of: 29-21-28-0000-00-038; 32-21-28-0000-00-004; 32-21-28-0000-00- 030 
 
REQUEST:   RECOMMEND DENIAL OF THE CHANGE OF ZONING 

  FROM: PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT  
  TO: PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (NEW MASTER SITE PLAN) 

  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER/APPLICANT:  Thompson Hills Estates LLC (Oak Pointe PUD) 
 
LOCATION:  East of Ocoee Apopka Road, north of McCormick Road 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant 
 
FLUM DESIGNATION:  Mixed Use 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  PUD (Planned Unit Development)  
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: Single-family and townhome residential development 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Planned Unit Development (PUD) (New Master Site Plan) 
 
TRACT SIZE:    67.7 +/- acres 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: 118 single family homes; 106 townhome units 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

41



PLANNING COMMISSION –JUNE 12, 2017 

THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES LLC (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD) – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 
 

SUMMARY:  The proposed change of zoning is being requested by the owner.  The subject properties 

were annexed into the City via Ordinance 1651 on December 18, 2002.  A public road with a right-of-way 

width ranging from 80 to 150 feet extends from McCormick Road to the Tract L-1 of the project.  

 

The existing PUD Master Plan expired and the applicant must re-submit a new PUD Master Plan.  In 

conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that 

adequate public facilities exist to support this zoning change (see attached Zoning Report). 

 

The applicant proposes to develop the property as a private, gated residential community with single-family 

and townhome homes. Located along McCormick Road, the City of Ocoee is situated along the south side 

of McCormick Road, which is a County road. State Road 429 follows the western project boundary. The 

proposed residential PUD Master Plan abuts land zoned commercial.  The commercial land sites between 

McCormick Road and the residential Master Plan.  An existing public road – Irmalee Lane – extends from 

McCormick Road northward through the property. Apopka Woods is a 76 lot, single family residential 

neighborhood that abuts most of the eastern boundary of Oak Pointe.  Typical lots within Apopka wood 

have a minimum width of 70 feet and a minimum land area of 7,500 sq. ft.  

 

Directly to the south of Oak Pointe is a private gated residential community – McCormick Woods – with 

typical lots of 70 x 125 (8,750 sq. ft.). 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Oak Pointe is a proposed private residential community with 112 single 

family lots and 106 townhome lots. Single family homes have a typical lot size with a minimum width of 

70 feet, a typical depth of 110 feet, with a minimum lot area of 7,700 sq. ft.    Each single family home will 

have a two-car garage.  Townhomes are on a lot with a minimum width of 23 feet.  The Master Plan provides 

not breakdown of the percentage of townhomes that will have one-car and two-car garages.  While the 

Master Plan makes reference to one- and two-car garages, the minimum lot with for all lots does not appear 

width enough to accommodate a two car garage.  Also, architectural rendering for the townhomes all show 

a one care The Master Plan does not identify a minimum livable area for either the townhome or the single 

family home 

 

PUD RECOMMENDATIONS:  The Master Plan\Preliminary Development Plan is not consistent with 

the Land Development Code and the Development Design Standards\Guidelines established therein.  A list 

of inconsistencies that City DRC members have identified are included in the exhibits. Therefore, DRC 

cannot recommend approval of the Oak Pointe PUD Master Plan and Preliminary Development Plan. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 

with the Residential Low Future Land Use designation but is not consistent with the Land Development 

Code.   

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: A capacity enhancement agreement with OCPS or a letter exempting 

the project from school capacity enhancement is required prior to submittal of a final development plan. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on May 19, 2017. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

June 12, 2017 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

July 5, 2017 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

July 19, 2017 – City Council (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
42



PLANNING COMMISSION –JUNE 12, 2017 

THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES LLC (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD) – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

May 19, 2017 – Public Notice and Notification 

July 7, 2017 – ¼ Page w/Map Ordinance Heading Ad  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment not consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code and recommends denial of the Oak Pointe Planned Unit 

Development Master Plan and Preliminary Development Plan. 

 

Recommended Motion:  Recommend to deny the zoning category from Planned Unit Development Master 

Plan and Preliminary Development Plan based on the findings and facts presented in the staff report and 

exhibits. 

 

Should Planning Commission recommend to approve the PUD Mater Plan\Preliminary Development Plan, 

then staff recommends it do so subject to the condition that all terms and conditions presented in the staff 

report and exhibitis must be addressed by the applicant and that the Master Plan and Preliminary Plan must 

comply with the Land  and acceptable to the Development Review Committee. 

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

43



PLANNING COMMISSION –JUNE 12, 2017 

THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES LLC (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD) – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

ZONING REPORT 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Rural (0-1 du/10 ac) A-1 Northwest Water Reclamation Facility 

East (City) Residential Low (0-5 du/ac) R-2 Apopka Woods subdivision 

South (City) Commercial (max 0.25 FAR) C-1 Vacant commercial\McCormick Rd 

West (City & 

County) 

“City” Mixed Use & “County” Rural 

(0-1 du/10 ac) 

Mixed-EC 

& A-1 

SR 429 ROW & Retention Pond 

 
LAND USE &  
TRAFFIC COMPATIBILITY: The property has access to a Major Arterial roadway (McCormick 

Road) and future access to Ocoee Apopka Road to the north..  A 
proposed internal spine road (Irmalee Lane) will provide connectivity 
to both Ocoee Apopka to the west and McCormick Road to the south 
for future residents of Oak Pointe. Future land use designations and 
zoning categories assigned to properties to the north, south, east, and 
west are predominantly residential and rural.   

 
COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN COMPLIANCE:  The proposed PUD zoning is compatible with policies set forth in the 

Comprehensive Plan.  
 
ALLOWABLE 
USES:  Single-family and townhome residential uses as set forth within the 

Planned Unit Development Master Plan. 
  

44



PLANNING COMMISSION –JUNE 12, 2017 

THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES LLC (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD) – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

 
Thompson Hills Estates LLC (Oak Pointe PUD) 

67.7 / +/- Acres 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: Planned Unit Development (PUD Residential) 
To: Planned Unit Development (New Master Site Plan) 

Parcel ID #(s): 29-21-28-0000-00-011; 29-21-28-0000-00-016; 29-21-28-0000-00-033; & 
(Portions of): 29-21-28-0000-00-038; 32-21-28-0000-00-004 & 32-21-28-0000-00- 030 

 

VICINITY MAP 

  

Subject 
Properties 

45



PLANNING COMMISSION –JUNE 12, 2017 

THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES LLC (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD) – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 
 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 

 

  

46



PLANNING COMMISSION –JUNE 12, 2017 

THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES LLC (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD) – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 7 
 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

47



PLANNING COMMISSION –JUNE 12, 2017 

THOMPSON HILLS ESTATES LLC (OAK POINTE SOUTH PUD) – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 8 
 

 

 

EXISTING USES 
 

 

48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



OAK POINTE PUD MASTER PLAND\PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

CODE INCONSISTENCIES 

General Inconsistencies  
 
1. Northern Road Right-of-Way.  Applicant has not provided a development agreement that requires 

dedication of a 60-foot wide right-of-way from the northern project line to Ocoee-Apopka Road 
following alignment delineated in the Oak Pointe North Master Plan (i.e., the parcel abutting to the 
north under the same ownership).  Development Agreement also will need to address phasing of 
development, maintenance and ownership regarding off-site landscaping and road improvements. 

 
2. Master Plan\Preliminary Development Plan does not provide sufficient and adequate details and 

information necessary for a PUD master plan or for a preliminary development plan. The proposed 
development lacks a planned image and neighborhood identity.  No theme appears between the 
architecture, amenities, and neighborhood design.  Entrance features provide no transition or 
identity to commercial areas to the north and south. (Sec. 6.09.3.1.1.; Sec. 2.02.18.j.4; Sec. 
2.02.18.D3) 

 
3. Provide legal opinion from attorney or letter from enclave property owner (Jason Revelle, parcel 

29-21-28-0000-00-007) regarding private roads and private community,  as the private community 
surrounds this separate parcel, this information is needed to address unified control of the 
proposed development, road vacate, and legal access. (Sec. 2.02.18.D.2.) 

 
4. Common Open Space.  Lack of adequate information and data is provided to confer open space 

meets the LDC requirements for a PUD.  Open space number on Sheet 4 do not match when 
listed separately. A breakdown of the open space is needed to confirm consistency with minimum 
open space standard. (Sec. 2.02.18.D.19) 

 
5. Provide a table listing each residential lot, its width, and square feet. (Sec. 2.02.18.K.9) 
 
6. Development Design Standards.  Inadequate information is provided to demonstrate that a 

neighborhood identify is planned.  Proposed design standards do not identify architectural themes, 
fencing standards, or other details typically provided in residential PUD or Mixed-EC residential 
communities. No architectural theme for homes is presented. No correlation between the home 
architecture and the entrance features and cabana are provided. (Sec. 2.02.18.K) 

 
7. Sheet 4.  Master Plan does not adequately explain how the land south of the Revelle\townhome 

parcel\tract will be assigned to a tract and what it will be used for.  A tract number and purpose 
need to be assigned to that strip of land. (Sec. 2.02.18.D.2.) 

 
8. Master Plan illustrate a poor integration between the commercial parcels to the south and the 

residential homes.  Lots 3 and 9 are visually exposed to the commercial tracts with no landscape 
screen.  (Sec.  2.02.18. D.5; Sec. 6.09.3.1.) 

 
9. Jurisdictional\Ownership Control.  A table needs to be added to identify ownership and 

maintenance responsibility for each Tract. Note:  the utilities are controlled by Orange County), 
 
10. Master Plan\PDP does not appear to take into consideration the Development Design 

Standards\Guidelines set forth in Section 6.09, LDC regarding residential development (such as 
entrance features, landscaping, etc.). (Sec. 6.09.3.1.1.; Sec. 2.02.18.j.4; Sec. 2.02.18.D3) 

 
11. Development Standards do not provide sufficient language regarding future HOA and common 

area access.  Will townhome and single family residents have access to all common areas?  Will 
there be a master HOA and two sub-HOA’s etc. 

73



OAK POINTE PUD MASTER PLAND\PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
CODE INCONSISTENCIES 
PAGE 2 
 

 
 

 
12. Townhome development provides no diversity in the dwellings. All are one-car townhomes. (Sec. 

2.02.18.A.) 
 
13. Sheet 4 -The single family lots in Tract A are numbered 1 – 52 and the single family lots in Tract 

B are numbered 1 – 66, totaling 118. The lots should be numbered sequentially, 1 -118, the same 
way they will be numbered for the plat. 

 
14. Sheet 4 - The number of townhome lots shown on Sheet 4 in the Site Data Table reports 106 lots, 

but on the Proposed Use Data Table, also on Sheet 4, reports 108 total number of townhome lots. 
The plan shows 106 lots. These discrepancy needs to be corrected on the plan sheet. 

 
15. Master Plan/PDP references townhomes with one and two car garages, but none of the proposed 

architectural renderings provides a two-car garage.  Development Standards do not identify the 
percent of townhomes that will be two-car garage homes. 

 
Information Corrections\Site Plan Errors 
 
1. Sheet 2.0.  Wall details need to be relocated to the Landscape Plan sheets. 
 
2. Sheet 2.0.  Add minimum front yard setback for front entry garages for single family homes is 30 

feet. 
 
3. Sheet 2.0. Add minimum front yard setback for front entry garage for townhomes at 22 feet. 
 
4. Sheet 4.0.  Tracts K1 through K-5, L-3, N-1, and 0-1 do not appear on Sheet 4.0. Add these tracts 

to the sheet.  
 
5. Use Table (PUDT) and Note 5 are not consistent with each other.   One states the roads are public 

and private, and the other states the proposed use of the roads are public. 
 
6. Sheet 4.0. PUDT lists 9.86 and 2.54 acres for ROW but does not identify the location of where 

these acreages originate. 
 
7. Sheet 4.0, PUDT.  ROW acreage in the DUDT (12.40) does not calculated to the 12.90 acres as 

shown in the Site Data Table. 
 
8. Open space numbers do not appear to match between the PUDT and the Site Data table. 
 
9. Sheet 4.0. Maximum building height is not provided. 
 
10. Sheet 4.  Minimum house size and townhome livable area are not included in the development 

standards or the site date.   
 
11. Sheet 11-9. Tract number for pool center is missing. 
 
12. Sheet 4.  Not all Tract numbers are shown or identified.  A separate tract is needed for the multi-

family parking lot. 
 
13. Sheet 6.  Sheet number in title block.  Change the sheet number from 06 to 6.0. 
 

74



OAK POINTE PUD MASTER PLAND\PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
CODE INCONSISTENCIES 
PAGE 3 
 

 
 

14. Will a two-car garage townhome be offered?  If not why?  Provide a diversity in housing type by 
providing some townhome units with two car garages. 

 
15. Sheet 4. Tracts K-1 – K-5, K-7 –K-9, L-3, N-1, and O-1 are listed in the Proposed Use Data Table, 

but not labeled on the plan sheet. Every tract should be delineated and labeled by tract number.  
All sheets need to be checked for consistency with missing tracts.  Streets need to be assigned 
as tracts, as the community will be private. 

 
16. Sheet 4. The Proposed Use Data Table lists Tract O-1 as parking/ROW, but the acreage is 

included in the ROW overall total. Clarify in the table whether it is parking or ROW and adjust the 
corresponding numbers accordingly. 

 
17. Sheet 5.3 and 5.4, add a comment that the ponds shall be designed to meet all the LDC 6.06.00 

requirements. 
 
Landscape, Buffers, and Entrance Features 
 
1. Sheet L-7.  Landscape islanded in the parking lot at the northeast corner of the townhome area 

show understory trees.  Replace with canopy trees. 
 
2. Perimeter Landscaping 
 

a. Western buffer Tract along S.R. 429.  A ten foot landscape buffer tract is provided but applicant 
requests waiver of a six-foot high buffer wall.  Landscape trees are place 100 feet apart instead 
of the 25 foot minimum distance. Dense mature landscaping is encourage for screening 
residential development from major roadways. (Sec. 2.02.18.B.21.e (3); Sec. 2.02.05.H.; Sec. 
6,07.3.9.) 

 
b. Perimeter buffer on the west side of development must be consistent with Section 

2.02.18.21.d., LDC. Additional landscaping and trees are needed. 
 
c. Southern Landscaping.  Landscaping is located on the commercial parcels.  No reference is 

addressed as to who will maintain this landscaping.  Is this an easement or a Tract?  As this is 
a gated community, install the buffer wall and landscape buffer for the commercial parcels and 
establish temporary maintenance authority and easement to the HOA through the 
development agreement. 

 
d. Tract K-6.  Trees and shrubs to be placed at perimeter of tract K-6, per section 2.02.18.d. 
 

3. Sheets L-5-L8.  Provide landscape screen to buffer adjacent townhomes from park area, similar 
to the pool facility. 

 
4. Tract N-1.  Pool area.  Insufficient landscape screening is provided to buffer residential homes 

abutting to the west and south.  Landscape screen between the pool house and Lots 45 and 52 
needs understory trees planted every ten to fifteen feet apart. No hedge or screen in provided to 
the west.  Additional landscaping should be planned along the east side to screen homes to the 
east  

 
5. Entry Features. (Sec. 6.09, 3.1.1, LDC)  For a private residential community of this scale, the 

entrance are inadequate.  The entrance feature only includes a gate and narrow landscape 

75



OAK POINTE PUD MASTER PLAND\PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
CODE INCONSISTENCIES 
PAGE 4 
 

 
 

medians.  Entrance features shall include community sign, additional landscaping, and will be 
provide screening to abutting residential. 

 
6. Adequate entrance feature that create neighborhood identify. Entrance features typically comprise 

of such components as brick walls, additional landscaping, fountains, clock towers, or other 
architectural structures that signify the boundary of place and support place-making. (Sec. 6.7, 
3.1.1, LDC).  Entrance features are requested at both primary and secondary entrance. Entrances 
shall utilize landscaping, streetscape patterns/furniture, fountains, walls and other architectural or 
design features are not provided at the entrance.   Integrated signage to communicate the 
development’s planned image. 

 
7. Entrance Features and Landscaping.  The overall design of berms walls, fences and screening 

should present a quality impact.   Insufficient stacking area is provided outside the southern gate 
and stacking appears to block commercial driveways and into public road section of Street “I”. . 
(Sec. 6.09.3.1.1.; Sec. 2.02.18.j.4; Sec. 2.02.18.D3) 

 
8. The landscaping along the south project boundary is located within the commercial parcels.  No 

information is provided as to who will maintain the off-site landscaping, whether the landscaping 
is temporary.  The commercial tract will be required to have a brick wall.  Install the commercial 
landscape buffer at this time with required landscaping, with a development agreement condition 
that HOA will maintain until the commercial parcel developments. Provide a detail of the landscape 
buffer on the commercial parcel. (Sec. 2.02.18.D.2.) 

 
9. Landscaping is provided within Street I from McCormick Road to the project southern Gate.  The 

Gate and Landscaping are all located within the commercial tracts. The Landscape median are 
not identified as tracts controlled by a property owner or the City.  Who maintains these? Location 
of public and private road is not delineated. (Sec. 2.02.18.D.2.) 

 
10. Sheet L-8. Street trees not shown on residential streets except for Street I and a typical inset. 

Street tree separation does not meet LDC requirement of one tree per 35 feet.  Trees are shown 
within the Sheet L-8 to be 70 feet distance from center to center of tree, not 35 feet (Sec. 5.01.08) 

 
11. Sec. 6.09.3.6.  Single family lots to have three trees per lot.  Only 2 are proposed.  Street trees 

are separate and not counted as lot trees. (Sec. 6.09, LCD; Article 5.) 
 
12. Tract M-1. Lift Station.  A buffer wall and landscaping are not provided to screen the lift station. 
 
Amenities, Parks and Recreation, Open Space 
 
1. Tract N-1 Park (Sheet L- 9) 
 

a. Bicycle rack is to be provided. Identify location and provide detail 
 
b. Include architectural rending of the cabana building.  Include as an inset to Sheet L-10. 

 
2. Tract K-6 Park (Sheet L-9) 

 
a. Bicycle rack is to be provided. Identify location and provide detail. 

 
b. No internal pedestrian system is provided in Park K-6.  Provide sidewalks with connection to 

sidewalks to the townhome road and Street I. (Sec. 2.02.18.D.18) 

76



OAK POINTE PUD MASTER PLAND\PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
CODE INCONSISTENCIES 
PAGE 5 
 

 
 

 
c. Provide pedestrian level lighting. (Sec. 2.0-2.18.d.18) 
 
d. Proposed recreation facilities are not to scale with the scale of the community.  Recreation 

facilities lack details to assure that the amenity will only be an open field.  Recreation plan 
includes one slide for a tot lot and two multi-use fields that appear to be only open lawn. 

 
i. The dog park has no details.  While it be fenced? Where is the entrance?  Where is the 

sidewalk to the dog park? Are there benches for the owner?  Trash can for waste bags? 
Dog bag dispenser?  

 
ii. Tot lot has no detail.  Will it be fenced?  Other than on slide, other recreation equipment 

needs to be added. 
 
Transportation and Access 
 
1.  Sheet 3.0. ROW Vacate.  If all internal roads are to be private streets, then all of Street “I” will 

need to be vacated.  Show all of road that will be vacated within Sheet 4.02.  Sheet 4.  Termination 
line of Private\Public Streets.  Provide demarcation line where the public and private street will 
stop. 

 
2. Sheet 4.  Street I, south of project line.  No information is provided regarding end and start of public 

road and private road.  Vehicle stacking behind the gate will block the commercial driveway 
entrance. Is Street I from McCormick Road to south project line or the southern gate a public or 
private street. 

 
3. All private roads need to be presented as Tracts.  The tract line will distinguish where the private 

and public road stops. 
 
4. Cross Walks along Street I.  Material of crosswalks?  Are these painted or brick paver cross walks? 
 

5. The plans lack information related to the gated entrance and whether it will create a stacking 

condition that extends to McCormick Road and blocking the access to the two commercial parcels. 

The site plans show the gate and the stub outs to the commercial lots with no separation which 

means each time a car stops to access the gate, access to the two commercial parcels will be 

blocked. The applicant must provide a stacking analysis to determine (1) if entering traffic will back 

up onto McCormick Road and if so, how best to address the issue. The entrance driveway should 

be redesigned to accommodate access to the two commercial parcels and allow for suitable 

vehicle staking in front of the entry gate. 

 

6. The applicant should evaluate the need for turn lane additions for all new project 

access public intersections or driveways on West McCormick. Please provide this 

evaluation in order for the City to determine the need for turn lanes at these locations. 

Turn lanes are likely needed to provide deceleration along these roadways and would 

be consistent with access to the adjacent properties. [6.02.04.D.1 LDC] 

 

7. Driveway spacing standards on West McCormick Road need to be demonstrated for 

the intersection with Street I. Driveways should be spaced such that the required turn 

lane length for deceleration of each can be provided without extending into the next 

77



OAK POINTE PUD MASTER PLAND\PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
CODE INCONSISTENCIES 
PAGE 6 
 

 
 

driveway or intersection. It is recommended that the applicant provide a site access 

plan that addresses stacking at the gated entrance, conflicts with cross access to 

future commercial development south of the gated entrance and to show the proposed 

turn lane lengths and how they meet standards for queuing and deceleration. 

 

8. Sheet 2.0. All the cross sections show a four foot wide sidewalk; however, the code 

requires a minimum five foot wide sidewalk. 

 

9. Gate Key pad location and turn around area location is not clearly identified. 

 

Parking. 
 
1. Sheet L-7. Parking Lot Landscaping.  Multi-Family parking areas.  Vegetative screen on the south 

side of parking lot is needed with trees and shrubs. (Sec. 6.08.3.32). 
 
2. Sheet L-7. Handicapped Parking.  No handicapped parking is provided at the townhome or pool 

house parking areas. (Sec. 6.03.2.B) 
 
Building Architecture and Housing Diversity 
 
1. Incorporate the architectural renderings for the townhomes into the plan set with a note that the 

community development director may approve alternative architectural design of equal or greater 
type. Alternatively, provide architectural standards within the Development Design Guidelines. 
Sec. 6.09, 3.1.1, LDC)   

 
2. An architectural theme is missing between the homes, entrance features, common areas, etc. 

(Sec. 6.09, 3.1.1, LDC)   
 
3. Only one-car garage is provided for the townhomes. A two-car garage option is not provided.  

78



Planning Commission Agenda 
June 12, 2017 
Page 79 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
1. FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – LAKE LUCIE EQUESTRIAN TRAIL HEAD – Property owned by the Orange 

County Board of County Commissioners and the applicant is Borrelli + Partners, c/a Christopher Rice, LA; and 
located south of the Orange County/Lake County line, west of Rainey Road, east of Plymouth Sorrento Road, 
street address 43 Rainey Road.  (Parcel ID #: 05-20-28-0000-00-003) 

  

79



CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: June 12, 2017 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan  Aerial Map 

    Final Development Plan 
  
SUBJECT:    FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – LAKE LUCIE EQUESTRIAN 

TRAIL HEAD 

    

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE LAKE LUCIE EQUESTRIAN 

TRAIL HEAD FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN (MINOR SITE 

PLAN) 
  
SUMMARY:  
 
OWNER:   Orange County BCC 
 
APPLICANT:   Orange County BCC (BORRELLI + PARTNERS, Christopher Rice, LA) 
 
LOCATION: South of the Orange County/Lake County line, west of Rainey Road, east of 

Plymouth Sorrento Road, street address 43 Rainey Road 
 

PARCEL ID #:  05-20-28-0000-00-003 
 
FLUM: Conservation  
 
ZONING: PR - Parks & Recreation 
 
EXISTING USE:                    Vacant Land 
 
PROPOSED USE: Equestrian Trail 
 
TRACT SIZE:   166 +/- acres 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  Office (Lake County) A (Lake County) Vacant 

East  Rural (Orange Co.) A-1 Agricultural Grazing 

South  Rural Settlement A-1 Agricultural Grazing 

West Rural (Orange Co.) A-2 Agricultural Grazing 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  

80



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 
LAKE LUCIE EQUESTRIAN TRAILHEAD FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The Lake Lucie Equestrian Trail project is a proposed 166 acre site to be 

used exclusively for equestrian riding. This project is owned by Orange County and will be operated and 

maintained by Orange County. The site was developed with the goal of preserving the natural setting and 

great care was given to preserve as many trees as possible. Crushed concrete will be used as the surface for 

the parking lot and driveways to the site’s two access points to Rainey Road. Handicap parking will be 

paved according to requirements of Florida Statutes. Parking and access are designed to accommodate horse 

trailers. Amenities, in addition to the trail include hitching posts, a hand pump well and an animal proof 

trash receptacle. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
June 12, 2017 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 21, 2017 - City Council (7:00 pm)  

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee finds the Final Development Plan consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code and recommends approval of the Lake Lucie Equestrian 

Trailhead Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

Recommended Motion:  Find the Final Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 

Land Development Code; and recommend approval of the Lake Lucie Equestrian Trailhead Final 

Development Plan, subject to the findings of the staff report. 
 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  

81



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 
LAKE LUCIE EQUESTRIAN TRAILHEAD FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 3 

 
Application:  Lake Lucie Equestrian Trailhead Final Development Plan 

Owner:   Orange County BCC 

Parcel I.D. No’s:    05-20-28-0000-00-003 
Location:  East of Plymouth Sorrento Road, South of Adair Avenue 
Total Acres:  +/- 166 Acres 

 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

82



PLANNING COMMISSION – JUNE 12, 2017 
LAKE LUCIE EQUESTRIAN TRAILHEAD FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 4 

 
Application:  Lake Lucie Equestrian Trailhead Final Development Plan 

Owner:   Orange County BCC 

Parcel I.D. No’s:    05-20-28-0000-00-003 
Location:  East of Plymouth Sorrento Road, South of Adair Avenue 
Total Acres:  +/- 166 Acres 
 

 

AERIAL MAP 

 
  
 

 

 

 

83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



Planning Commission Agenda 
June 12, 2017 
Page 91 

 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 
2. MASTER SIGN PLAN – PIEDMONT PLAZA – Owned by  G and I VIII Piedmont Plaza, LLC, c/o Greenberg 

Traurig, P.A., and located south of Semoran Boulevard (SR 436), east of Piedmont-Wekiwa Rd. (PARCEL ID 
#(s): 12-21-28-0000-00-003, 12-21-28-0000-00-025 & 12-21-28-0000-00-024) 

  

91



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISION 

    
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: June 12, 2017 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  FROM: Community Development 

 PLAT APPROVAL  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Master Sign Plan   Master Sign Plan 

    Declaration of Restrictions 

and Grant of Easements 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

PROJECT:   PIEDMONT PLAZA MASTER SIGN PLAN 

 

Request:   APPROVAL OF THE PIEDMONT PLAZA MASTER SIGN PLAN 

(PARCEL ID #: 12-21-28-0000-00-003, 12-21-28-0000-00-025 & 12-21-

28-0000-00-024) 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUMMARY: 

 

OWNER/APPLICANT: G and I VIII Piedmont Plaza, LLC, c/o Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 

 

LOCATION:   South of Semoran Boulevard, East of Piedmont-Wekiwa Road 

 

LAND USE:   Commercial 

 

ZONING:   C-1 

 

EXISTING USE:  Plaza 

 

TRACT SIZE:   13.74 +/- acres 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

DISTRIBUTION 
 
Mayor Kilsheimer  Finance Director  Public Ser. Director 
Commissioners (4)  HR Director  City Clerk 
City Administrator Irby  IT Director  Fire Chief 
Community Dev. Director  Police Chief  Recreation Director 

 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\SITE PLANS\2016\Piedmont Plaza\Piedmont Plaza Master Sign Plan info 

92



PLANNING COMMISSION- JUNE 12, 2017 

PIEDMONT PLAZA – MASTER SIGN PLAN 

PAGE 2 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Commercial C-1 
CVS 

Extreme Motor Sales 
Children’s Learning Academy 

East (City) Office PO/I Century Link 

South (City) Commercial PUD Self-Storage 

West (County) Commercial C-1 Wekiva Corners Shopping Center 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The Piedmont Plaza Master Sign Plan includes existing and proposed 
signage for their site.   Through the proposed Master Sign Plan, the existing pylon signage is required to be 
removed.  The applicant agrees to forfeit a Hobby Lobby monument sign to allow two monument signs at 
169.86 sq. ft. each.  Proposed sign elevations appear within the Master Sign Plan package. Many of the 
proposed wall signs for main tenants (10,000 sq. ft.) are under their allowable sign square footage, so the 
extra square footage has been transferred to the Fuddruckers’ signage to allow them two 100 sq. ft. signs. 
 
Master Sign Plan Conditions: 
 
1. To meet the intent of the sign ordinance, the Master Sign Plan for Piedmont Plaza shall not be allowed 

to use the following sign types: 
 

a. Electronic reader boards are not allowed within the any monument sign along both frontages. Sec. 

8.04.08 

 

b. No portable trailer signs shall be allowed for any business within Piedmont Plaza. Sec. 8.04.13 

 

c. No human signs shall be allowed for any business within Piedmont Plaza. Sec. 8.05.02.F 
 
2. The “Second Amendment to Declaration of Restrictions and Grant of Easements” shows that Hobby 

Lobby will be allowed a portion of the two proposed monument signs. The prohibition of a singular 
Hobby Lobby monument sign will allow Piedmont Plaza to use the extra signage square footage (100 
sq. ft.) for larger monument signs, allowing 50 additional sq. ft. per monument sign.  

 
3. Monument signs on arterial streets are required to a maximum of 8 ft. high, Piedmont Plaza is requesting 

13 ft. 8 in. for both monument signs to accommodate architectural features and space for Hobby Lobby. 
 
4. All tenant and anchor wall signs affixed to a store front of the Piedmont Plaza at the time of the Master 

Sign Plan approval shall conform to the sign code standards when replaced due to significant damage 
or to accommodate a new sign face, or when an electrical permit application for such sign is submitted 
to the City.  

  
5. The Piedmont Plaza landlord shall enforce these Master Sign Plan conditions through its lease 

agreements with all tenants. 
 

Applicant Request:  Through the Master Sign Plan, the applicant is requesting approval of all tenant wall 
signs and two monument signs. In exchange for this deviation from the sign code; the Hobby Lobby owner 
agrees to forfeit the ability to install a monument sign for only Hobby Lobby; prohibit human signs; and 
forfeit the use of temporary trailer sign, so long as the monument signs (2) remain at 169.86 sq. ft. 
 

93



PLANNING COMMISSION- JUNE 12, 2017 

PIEDMONT PLAZA – MASTER SIGN PLAN 

PAGE 3 
 

 
 
FINDINGS: 

 
In granting approval of the Master Sign Plan for PIEDMONT PLAZA, the City of Apopka finds: 
 

1. The Master Sign Plan for PIEDMONT PLAZA has been submitted and reviewed by staff.  The 
Development Review Committee does not object to the master sign plan as proposed subject to the 
Master Plan Conditions of Approval appearing in the staff report. 

 
Planning Commission has authority to render a final decision on this Master Sign Plan.  The existing 
multi-tenant shopping center and associated plaza and some tenant signage are in place.  
 
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
Approve the Piedmont Plaza Master Sign Plan. 
 
Role: Authority is granted in Article VIII of the Land Development Code to the Planning Commission for 
final action regarding a Master Sign Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Anchor Tenant Storefront Length SQ.FT. Allowed (max. 200 sq.ft.) Proposed SQ.FT. (some recalculated) SQ.FT. Remaining 

Party City 85' 170 149.5 20.5

24 Hour Fitness - Front 120'-2 1/2" 100 91.56 8.44

24 Hour Fitness - Side 165'-2 1/2" 100 91.56 8.44

Royal Pets Market & Resort 70'-1/2" 140 82.9 57.1

Bealls Outlet 90'-1/2" 180 149 31

Bealls 166'-11 1/2" 200 198 2

Fudrucker's - Front 69'-6 1/2" 100 96.8 3.2

Fudrucker's - Side 50'-6" 100 96.8 3.2

Totals: 1090 956.12 133.8

Monument Sign 1 N/A 120 @ 8 ft high 169.86

Monument Sign 2 N/A 60 @ 8 ft high 169.86

94



PLANNING COMMISSION- JUNE 12, 2017 

PIEDMONT PLAZA – MASTER SIGN PLAN 

PAGE 4 
 

Application:  Master Sign Plan 

Owner:  G and I VIII Piedmont Plaza, LLC, c/o Greenberg Traurig, PA  
Parcel I.D. No’s:    12-21-28-0000-00-003, 12-21-28-0000-00-025 & 12-21-28-0000-00-024 
Location:  South of East Semoran Boulevard, east of Piedmont-Wekiwa Road 
Total Acres: 13.74 +/- 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

  

 

Subject 

Property 

95



Address # Building Tenant Name Storefront Length Sign Square Footage Allowed Sign Dimensions
Sign                       

Square Footage 
Used 

Sign                              
Square Footage 

Remaining 
Notes

2444 A / B Sage Dental 59'-6" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 1'-6" x 21'-0" 31.5 (N/A) N/A Existing Tenant Before Remodel

2438 A / B Simple Solutions Endodontics 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 2'-0" x 15'-6" 31 (N/A) N/A Existing Tenant Before Remodel

2436 A / B All American Gold & Silver Buyers 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 1'-8" x 12'-10" 21.39 (N/A) N/A Existing Tenant Before Remodel

2434 A / B Cricket Wireless 20'-0"  /  Front Elev Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 2'-0" x 8'-8" 17.33 (N/A) N/A Existing Tenant Before Remodel

50'-0  /  Side Elev 2'-0" x 8'-8" 17.33 (N/A) N/A

2432 A / B Advance America - Cash Advance 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 3'-0" x 8'-0" 24 (N/A) N/A

2430 A / B Nic Sam's Uniform 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 10" x 3'-4"  /  Nic Sam's 2.78 (N/A) N/A Existing Tenant Before Remodel

1'-10" x 12'-0"  /  Uniform 22 (N/A) N/A

2428 A / B Today's Nails & Spa 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 3'-4" x 9'-6" 31.67 (N/A) N/A Existing Tenant Before Remodel

2426 A / B H&R Block 20'-0"  /  Front Elev Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 3'-0" x 2'-6"  /  Square Logo 7.5 (N/A) N/A Existing Tenant Before Remodel

1'-6" x 12'-3"  /  H&R Block 18.38 (N/A) N/A

40'-0"  /  Side Elev 3'-0" x 2'-6"  /  Square Logo 7.5 (N/A) N/A

1'-6" x 12'-3"  /  H&R Block 18.38 (N/A) N/A

2424 A / B Edible Arrangements 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max 3'-0" x 11'-2" 33.5 (N/A) N/A New Tenant After Remodel

2400 C Hobby Lobby 250'-7 3/4" N/A 6'-7 3/4" x 40'-0" N/A N/A Separate Parcel

2370 D Party City 85'-0" 170 6'-0" X 24'-11" 149.5 20.5 Anchor Tenant  /  13,600 SF

2360 E 24 Hour Fitness 120'-2 1/2" / Front Elev 100 6'-0" x 6'-8"  /  24 Hour 40 8.44 Anchor Tenant  /  38,640 SF

 2'-8" x 19'-4"  /  Fitness 51.56

165'-2 1/2" / Side Elev 100 6'-0" x 6'-8"  /  24 Hour 40 8.44

2'-8" x 19'-4"  /  Fitness 51.56

2316 F Royal Pets Market & Resort 70'-0 1/2" 140 5'-8 7/8" x 8'-5 1/5"   /  Top Section 48.55 57.1 Anchor Tenant  /  16,894 SF

 2'-6 5/8" x 13'-5 1/2"  /  Lower Section 34.35

2314 F Bealls Outlet 90'-1/2" 180 6'-0" x 20'-0"  /  Bealls 120 31 Anchor Tenant  /  23,520 SF

2'-3" x 12'-10"  /  Outlet 29

2302 F Bealls 166'-11 1/2 200 6'-6" X 30'-6" 198 2 Anchor Tenant  /  47,551 SF

2300 -A F Fudrucker's 69'-6 1/2" / Front Elev 100 6'-0 1/8" x 20'-0" 96.8 3.2 Front Main Entrance

50'-6" / Side Elev 100 6'-0 1/8" x 20'-0" 96.8 3.2 Side Secondary Entrance

2300-B F Vacant 14'-9" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max N/A Secondary Entrance - 18" Letter / Max 16 sf

2300-C F Vacant 14'-9" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max N/A Secondary Entrance - 18" Letter / Max 16 sf

2300-D F Vacant 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max N/A Secondary Entrance - 18" Letter / Max 16 sf

2300-E F Vacant 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max N/A Secondary Entrance - 18" Letter / Max 16 sf

2300-F F Vacant 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max N/A Secondary Entrance - 18" Letter / Max 16 sf

2300-G F Vacant 20'-0" Max 18" Letter / 75% Length / 100 sf Max N/A Secondary Entrance - 18" Letter / Max 16 sf

Square Footage Totals 1090 956.12 133.88

Piedmont Plaza - Proposed Master Sign Plan - Tenant Sign Calculations 

96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



ThisInstrumentwaspreparedby
and,afterrecordation,shouldbe
returnedto:

DavidJ.Wiener,Esq.
DavidJ.Wiener,P.A.
2240NorthwestigthStreet
Suite801
BocaRaton,Florida33431

SECOND AMENDMENT
TO

DECLARATIONOF RESTRICTIONSAND GRANT OF EASEMENTS

ThisSecondAmendmenttoDeclarationofRestrictionsandGrantofEasements(this"SecondAmendment")ismadeandentered
intoasoftheS%ay of ,2016(the"EffectiveDate")byAgreeApopkaFL,LLC,a Delawarelimitedliabilitycompany(andtogether
withitssuccessorsand/orassigns,"AGR"),andG&IVillPiedmontPlazaLLC,a Delawarelimitedliabilitycompany(andtogetherwithits
successorsand/orassigns,"G&l"),andApopkaRetailDST,a Delawarestatutorytrust(andtogetherwithitssuccessorsand/orassigns,
"ApopkaRetail").

RECITALS:

A. PiedmontPlazaShoppingCenter(the"ShoppingCenter")islocatedatthesoutheasterlycorneroftheintersectionof
Piedmont-WekiwaRoadandE.SemoranBoulevard(S.R.436)inApopka,OrangeCounty,Florida.TheShoppingCenterismoreparticularly
describedonExhibit"A"annexedheretoandformingaparthereof.

B. TheShoppingCenterissubjecttothatcertainDeclarationofRestrictionsandGrantofEasements(the"Original
Declaration")recordedinOfficialRecordsBook3606,atPage2156,PublicRecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida.TheOriginalDeclaration
wasamendedbythatcertainAmendmenttoDeclarationofRestrictionsandGrantofEasements(the"FirstAmendment")recordedinOfficial
RecordsBook6330,atPage3654,PublicRecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida.TheOriginalDeclaration,asamendedbytheFirst
Amendment,ishereinafterreferredtocollectivelyasthe"Declaration".

C. AGR,assuccessorininteresttoABS FLAInvestorLLC,isthecurrentownerof"Parcel1"(assaidtermisdefinedin
Declaration).

D. G&I,assuccessorininteresttoP.0'B.ApolloFlorida,L.P.(which,inturn,wasthesuccessorininteresttoTobyR.Hardy
andDwightL.Lieb,Trustees),isthecurrentownerof"Parcel11"(assaidtermisdefinedintheDeclaration).

E. ApopkaRetail,assuccessorininteresttoP.O'B.ApolloFlorida,L.P.(which,inturn,wasthesuccessorininterestto
TobyR.HardyandDwightL.Lieb,Trustees),isthecurrentownerof"ParcelIll"(assaidtermisdefinedintheDeclaration).

F. AGR,G&IandApopkaRetaildesiretoamendtheDeclarationinthemannerhereinaftersetforth.

AGREEMENT:

NOW THEREFORE,inconsiderationofthepremises,themutualundertakingsandagreementsofthepartieshereincontained,
thesumofTenDollars($10.00)andothergoodandvaluableconsideration,inhandpaidand/orgivenbyeachofthepartiesheretotothe
other,thereceiptandsufficiencyofwhichareherebyacknowledged,AGR,G&IandApopkaRetail,intendingtobeboundandobligated,do
herebyagreeasfollows:

1. RecitalsTrueandCorrect.TheforegoingRecitalsaretrueandcorrectinallrespectsandareincorporatedintothis
SecondAmendmentasifagainsetoutatlengthherein.

2. AmendmentofDeclaration.AGR,G&IandApopkaRetaildoherebyagreethattheDeclarationshallbeandishereby
modifiedasfollows:

(a) Redevelopment.AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyconsenttotheredevelopmentofthesoutherlypartof
ParcelII(the"Parcel11Redevelopment")substantiallyasdepictedonthesiteplanattachedheretoasExhibit"B"andformingaparthereof
(the"NewSitePlan").

140



(b) NewSitePlan;ConsentsandAqreements.Etc.Infurtheranceoftheforegoing,AGR,G&IandApopkaRetail
hereby(i)approvetheNewSitePlanandagreethatthelayoutandconfigurationoftheShoppingCenterandits"CommonAreas","Building
Areas",driveways,entrances,exits,parkingareas,landscapedareas,signsandotherareasandfeatures,asdepictedontheNewSitePlan,
complyandshallbedeemedtobecomplywiththerequirementsoftheDeclaration,including,butnotlimitedto,thoserelatingtothenumber
ofrequiredparkingspaces,and(ii)agreethatthesiteplancurrentlyattachedasExhibit"A"totheDeclaration(the"PriorSitePlan")shallbe
deletedandthattheNewSitePlanattachedtothisSecondAmendmentasExhibit"B"shallbesubstitutedintheplaceandsteadofthePrior
SitePlan,and(iii)thepartiesheretodoherebyagreethatallreferencesintheDeclarationtothe"CommonAreas","BuildingAreas",
driveways,entrances,exits,parkingareas,landscapedareas,signsandotherareasandfeaturesdepictedonthePriorSitePlanshall
insteadhereafterrefertothe"CommonAreas","BuildingAreas",driveways,entrances,exits,parkingareas,landscapedareas,signsand
otherareasandfeaturesdepictedontheNew SitePlan.

(c) ConsentsandAqreements,Etc.

(i) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyacknowledgeandagreethat,asmoreparticularlysetforthon
theNewSitePlan,theParcelIIRedevelopmentshallinclude,amongotherthings:

(1) therenovationoftheformerZayre/K-MartStorepremises(currentlyoccupiedbyBeall's
DepartmentStore);

I

(2) therenovationofthefagadeofthebuildingcontainingsuchformerZayre/K-MartStore
premises,suchfagaderenovationtobesubstantiallyasdepictedintherendering(s)attachedheretoasExhibit"C'andformingaparthereof;

(3) thedemolitionoftheapproximately27,700squarefootexistingmulti-tenantbuildingthat
adjoinsandislocatedimmediatelytothesouthoftheformerAlbertson'sStorepremises(currentlyoccupiedbyHobbyLobbyStores,Inc.),
andthereplacementofsuchapproximately27,700squarefootexistingmulti-tenantbuildingwithadditionalparkingareasandanewbuilding
(the"NewOneandTwoStoryBuilding"),alloftheforegoingtobeinsubstantiallythelocationsindicatedontheNew SitePlan,withthe
exteriorelevationsofsuchNewOneandTwoStoryBuildingtobesubstantiallyasdepictedintherenderingsattachedheretoasExhibit"D"
andforminga parthereof.Inthisconnection,AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailacknowledgeandagreethattheNew One andTwoStory
Buildingshallhaveanaggregatefloorareaofapproximately52,240squarefoot,withapproximately13,600squarefeetofsuchfloorareato
belocatedwithintheone-storynortherlysectionoftheNew OneandTwo StoryBuilding,andwiththeremainingapproximately38,640
squarefeetofsuchfloorareatobelocatedwithinthetwo-storysoutherlysectionofsuchbuilding,allsubstantiallyasdepictedontheNew
SitePlan.AGR,G&landApopkaRetailfurtheracknowledgeandagreethattheheightoftheone-storysectionoftheNew OneandTwo
StoryBuildingshallbeapproximately26feet(withdecorativetowers,architecturalembellishments,roofprojectionsand/orequipment
permittedtoextendupanadditional12feet,toanaggregatetotalof38feet),andthattheheightofthetwo-storysectionofsuchbuilding
shallbeapproximately57feet(withdecorativetowers,architecturalembellishments,roofprojectionsand/orequipmentpermittedtoextend
upanadditional4feet,toanaggregatetotalof61feet).AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailfurtherconsentstotheoperationoftheoperationof
ahealthclubandrelatedusesintheNew OneandTwoStoryBuilding.

(4) theconstructionofafree-standingbuildingwithdrive-through(the"NewFree-Standing
Building")onapadtobelocatedtothesouthwestoftheHobbyLobbystorepremisessubstantiallyasindicatedontheNew SitePlan,such
NewFree-StandingBuildingtohaveafloorareaofapproximately8,000squarefootandaheightofapproximately24feet(withdecorative
towers,architecturalembellishments,roofprojectionsand/orequipmentpermittedtoextendupanadditional6feet,toanaggregatetotalof
30feet)andwiththeexteriorelevationsofsuchNewFree-StandingBuildingtobesubstantiallyasdepictedintherenderingsattachedhereto
asExhibit"E"andformingaparthereofgenerallyconsistentandcompatiblewiththeotherbuildingsinParcelII;and

(5) thereconfigurationandupgradingofcertainoftheparkingareasofParcelII.

(ii) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailhereby(aa)consenttotherenovationofthefagadeofthebuilding
locatedonParcel1(andcontainingtheexistingHobbyLobbyStorepremises),suchfagaderenovationtobesubstantiallyasdepictedinthe
rendering(s)attachedheretoasExhibit"F"andforminga parthereof,and(bb)agreethattheheightofsuchbuildingmayextendto
approximately28feet(withdecorativetowers,architecturalembellishments,roofprojectionsand/orequipmentpermittedtoextendupan
additional10feet,toanaggregatetotalof38feet);

(iii) AGR, G&IandApopkaRetailherebyagreethattheexistingheightlimitationssetforthinthe
Declaration(asmodifiedbythisSecondAmendment)(andspecificallyincludingtheone-storybuildingheightlimitationandanysignage
heightrestrictions)shallnotbedeemedtoapplytotheNewOneandTwoStoryBuilding,ortotheNewFree-StandingBuilding,provided,
however,thatthosebuildingsdonotexceedtheheightlimitssetoutinParagraphs2(c)(i)(3)and-2(c)(i)(4)above.AGR,G&IandApopka
Retailfurtheragreethat,totheextentthatanyexistingbuildingorsignintheShoppingCentermightcurrentlyviolateanyofsuchexisting
heightlimitations,suchviolation(s)willbedeemedwaived.

141



(iv) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyconsenttotheconstructionoftheNew OneandTwo Story
BuildingandtheNew Free-StandingBuildingsubstantiallyasdepictedonExhibitsD andE,respectively,andAGR,G&IandApopkaRetail
acknowledgeandagreethatnofurtherplansorotherinformationastosuchproposedbuildingsneedbeprovidedtothempriortothe
commencementofconstructionthereof(i.e.,notwithstandingtheprovisionsoftheDeclarationthatseemtorequiresubmissionofadditional
"information"regardingthosebuildings).

(v) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyagreethatallreferencesintheDeclarationtotheCenter's
"pylonsigns"shallbedeemedinsteadtomeanandrefertothetwo(2)newmonumentsignswhichshallbeerectedattheShoppingCenter
byandatthesolecostandexpenseofG&l(oritsdesignees,successorsand/orassigns)inplaceofthetwo(2)existingpylonsigns.Further,
totheextentthatallnecessarypermitsandapprovalsforsameshallhavebeenobtained,G&I(oritsdesignees,successorsand/orassigns)
shallalsobeentitledtoconstruct,operate,maintain,repairandreplace,atitssolecostandexpense,a thirdmonumentsigninthe
northwesterlycorneroftheShoppingCenter,i.e.,adjacenttotheintersectionofPiedmont-WekiwaRoadandE.SemoranBoulevard(S.R.
436).AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyfurtheragreethatnotwithstandinganycontraryprovisionofSection5.3oftheDeclaration,the
designofsuchnewmonumentsigns(andthenumberoftenantsignpanelsthatmaybeaffixedthereto)shallbesubstantiallyasdepictedin
therenderingsattachedheretoasExhibit"G-1"(proposednewmonumentsigntobeerectedadjacenttoPiedmont-WekiwaRoad),Exhibit
"G-2"(proposednewmonumentsigntobeerectedadjacenttoE.SemoranBoulevard[S.R.436]),and,ifapplicable,Exhibit"G-3"(proposed
newmonumentsignwhichmaybeerectedinthenorthwesterlycorneroftheShoppingCenter).Inthisconnection,thesignpanel(s)assigned
totheParcelIPrimeLessee(orsuchotherpartyasmaybedesignatedbytheownerofParcelI)onanyorallofthenewmonumentsigns
referredtoabovemaybedividedinhalfasdirectedbytheownerofParcelI(i.e.,sothatsignpanelsforuptotwo[2]tenantsofParcelImay
beplacedinthespaceinquestiononeachsuchmonumentsign)andthesignpanel(s)assignedtotheParcelIIPrimeLessee(orsuchother
partyasmaybedesignatedbytheownerofParcelII)onanyorallofthenewmonumentsignsreferredtoabovemaybedividedinhalfas
directedbytheownerofParcelII(i.e.,sothatsignpanelsforuptotwo[2]tenantsofParcelIImaybeplacedinthespaceinquestionon
eachsuchmonumentsign).

(vi) AGR andApopkaRetailhereby(x)acknowledgethatG&Iproposestoleasetheapproximately
38,640squarefoot,two-story,sectionoftheNewOneandTwoStoryBuildingto24HourFitnessUSA,Inc.fortheoperationofahealthclub
andrelateduses(the"24HourFitnessUses"),and(y)consenttotheoperationofahealthclubandrelatedusesinsuchportionoftheNew
OneandTwoStoryBuilding.Further,AGR,G&IandApopkaherebyapprovethedrive-throughfacilitiesshownontheNew SitePlanand
theautomatedtellermachinewithinParcelillatthelocationlabeled"ATM"ontheNewSitePlan.

(vii) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyagreethatSections7.2,7.3and7.4oftheDeclarationshallbe
andareherebymodifiedtoreadasfollows(newtextunderlined;deletedtextstruek4hrough):

"7.2 NopartofSubjectPropertyshallbeusedasabarortavern(therestrictionsprohibiting
abarortavernshallnotprohibitwherespecificallyallowedinparagraph7.3,thesaleofalcoholicbeveragesbyasit-downrestaurant
whichderivesatleastfifty(50%)percentofitsgrosssalesfromthesaleoffood),pornographicbookstore,gymy-automotiverepair
facility,dancehall,billiardorpoolhall,gameroom(exceptasapartofarestaurantconcept),offtrackbettingfacility,massage
parlor(provided,however,thatthisrestrictionshallnotbedeemedtoapplyoperationsuchas"MassageEnvy"orto
physicians,chiropractorsorlicensedmassagetherapists),theater,bowlingalley,carnivalorfair,skatingrink,warehouse,car
washorfortherenting,leasingorsaleofordisplayingforthepurposesofrenting,leasingorsaleofanymotorvehicleortrailer,
orforindustrialpurposes.

"7.3 UnlessadepartmentstoreshallceasetobeoperatedinParcelIIforaperiodoftwelve
(12)consecutivemonths,nopartofParcelIshallbeusedfornon-retailpurposes.Unless-a-fe
operated-inParcelIshallceasetobeusedandoccupiedforretailpurposesforaperiodoftwelve(12)consecutivemonths,no
partofParcelIIshallbeusedfornonretailpurposes.Thefollowingpurposesarenotnon-retail;(i)office,storage,repairsand
alterationsincidentaltoretailing;(ii)barbershops;(iii)beautysalons;(iv)drycleaningpickupstations;(v)banks;(vi)smallloan
office;(vii)professionaloffices;(viii)healthstudios;(ix)educationalan@facilities; (x)restaurants;butthe-leeation
ofaggregateamountoffloorareawhichmaybeusedforprofessionaloffices,healthstudios,educationand/ordavearefacilities
andrestaurantsshallbelimitedashereinafterprovided;and(xi)othercustomaryusestypicallyfoundincomparableshopping
centersintheStateofFlorida.Innoeventshallmorethananaggregatetotalof12,000squarefeetoffloorareainParcel
IIbeusedformedicalofficesdentaloffIces,otherprofessionalofficesand/oreducationaland/ordavcarefacilities,andin
noeventshallmorethananaggregatetotalof12,000squarefeetofTotalAreainParcelIIbeusedforrestaurants.Anything
intheforegoingtothecontrarynotwithstanding,itisexpresslyunderstoodandagreedthattherestrictionsinthisSection
7.3shallnotapplytothepremiseslocatedortobelocatedinthewesterlyapproximately75feetofthebuildingcurrently
occupiedbyBeall'sDepartmentStore.

142



consideredhe lthsude

"7.4 IntentionallyDeleted.N restemnot e ed

3. MiscellaneousMatters.

(a) AllreferencesintheDeclarationtotheParcelIPrimeLesseeshallbedeemedtorefertoHobbyLobby,its
successorsand/orassigns,provided,however,thatupontheexpirationorsoonerterminationoftheleasebetweenHobbyLobbyandthe
ownerofParcel1,allreferencestotheParcelIPrimeLesseeshallbedeemedtorefertothelesseeortenantofthemajorityofthegross
leasablefloorspaceofthebuildingthatiscurrentlyoccupiedbyHobbyLobby.

(b) AllreferencesintheDeclarationtotheParcelIIPrimeLesseeshallbedeemedtorefertoBeall'sDepartment
Stores,Inc.,itsuccessorsand/orassigns,provided,however,thatupontheexpirationorsoonerterminationoftheleasebetweenBeall's
DepartmentStore,Inc.,allreferencestotheParcel||PrimeLesseeshallbedeemedtorefertothelesseeortenantofthemajorityofthe
grossleasablefloorspaceofthebuildingthatiscurrentlyoccupiedbyBeall'sDepartmentStores,Inc.

(c) AllreferencesintheDeclarationto"Zayre"or"K-Mart"shallbedeemedtoreferto"Beall'sDepartmentStores,
Inc.".

(d) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyacknowledgeandagreethattheNew SitePlanattachedheretoas
Exhibit"B"and/ortherenderingsattachedheretoasExhibits"C"and"D"maybemodifiedfromtimetotimeinordertocomplywiththe
mandatesand/orrequirementsofapplicablegovernmentalauthoritiesinconnectionwithand/orasaconditiontotheissuanceofthevarious
approvalsrequiredforthemattersreferredtoinParagraph2(c)(i)above,however,innoeventshalltheNew SitePlanbemodiledinany
mannerwhichshallaffectParcelIorParcelIIorParcelIllwithouttheexpresspriorwrittenconsentoftherespectiveownersofsuchParcels,
andinnoeventshallanyoftherenderingsattachedheretoasExhibits"C"and/or"D"bemodifiedinanymannerthatwouldhaveanymaterial
adverseimpactontheoperationsoftheownersofParcelIorParcelIII(orofanyoftherespectivetenantsofsuchParcels)withoutthe
expresspriorwrittenconsentoftheowneroftheaffectedParcel,whichconsentshallnotbeunreasonablywithheld.

(e) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyacknowledgeandagreethatrenderingsattachedheretoasExhibit"E"
may bemodifiedfromtimetotimeinordertocomplywiththemandatesand/orrequirementsofappilcablegovernmentalauthoritiesin
connectionwithand/orasa conditiontotheissuanceofthevariousapprovalsrequiredforthemattersreferredtoinParagraphs2(c)(ii)
above,however,innoeventshalltherenderingsattachedheretoasExhibit"E"bemodifiedinanymannerthatwouldhaveanymaterial
adverseimpactontheoperationsoftheownersofParcel1orParcelIll(orofanyoftherespectivetenantsofsuchParcels)withoutthe
expresspriorwrittenconsentoftheowneroftheaffectedParcel,whichconsentshallnotbeunreasonablywithheld.

(f) WithoutthepriorwrittenconsentoftheownerofParcel1,whichconsentshallnotbeunreasonablywithheld,
theownerofParcel11shallnotconstructanydrivethroughfacilitywithinParcelllexceptforthosedrivethroughfacilities,ifany,thatexist
withinParcelIIasofthedatehereofand/orthosedrivethroughfacilitiesthatareauthorizedand/orcontemplatedpursuanttotermsofthis
SecondAmendment.

(g) Subjecttoreceiptofallapplicableandlornecessarygovernmentalpermits,consentsandapprovals,theowner
ofeachParcelshallbepermitted,fromtimetotime,toreconfigurethecommonareaswithinitsParcelprovidedthatsuchreconfiguration
shallnotresultin(x)anyreductioninparkingwithinsuchParcelbelowthatrequiredbycode(asmodifiedbyanyvarianceobtained),or(y)
anymaterialadverseeffectupontrafficflow,andfurtherprovidedthatinnoeventshallanydrivewayrunningbetweensuchowner'sParcel
andanyotherParcel(s)bemodifiedorreconfiguredinanyway.

(h) NeitherAGR norApopkaRetailshallunreasonablywithhold,delayorconditionitsconsenttoanyother
modificationsoftheDeclarationwhichG&ImayrequestinconjunctionwiththeredevelopmentoftheShoppingCenterascontemplated
above,providedthatsameshallnothaveamaterialadverseeffectonthepartyproposingtowithholdsuchconsent.

(i) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyagreethatParagraph9.1oftheDeclaration,shallbeandishereby
restatedtoprovideasfollows:

143



'9.1 Allnoticesorothercommunicationsrequiredorpermittedtobe givenpursuanttothe
DeclarationorthisSecondAmendmentshallbeinwritingandshalibeconsideredasproperlygivenormade(i)uponthedateof
personaldelivery(ifnoticeisdeliveredbypersonaldeliveryore-mailorotherelectronicmeans),(ii)onthedateofdelively,as
confirmedbyelectronicanswerback(ifnoticeisdeliveredbytacsimiletransmission),or(iii)onthedayone(1)businessdayafter
depositwitha nationallyrecognizedovernightcourierservice(ifnoticeisdeliveredbynationallyrecognizedovernightcourier
service),andinanycaseaddressedtothepartiesattheaddressessetforthbelow(ortosuchotheraddressesasthepartiesmay
specifybyduenoticetotheother):

(1) IftoAGR:

AgreeApopkaFL,LLC
c/oAgreeLimitedPadnership
70EastLongLakeRoad
BloomfieldHills,MI,48304
Attention:LaithHermiz,COO
FacsimileNumber:(248)737-9110
EmailAddress:laith@agreereally.com

Withacopyto:

HoningmanMillerSchwartzandCohnLLP
39400WoodwardAvenue,Suite101
BloomileldHills,M/48304-5151
Attention:LowellD.Salesin,Esq.
FacsimileNumber:(248)566-8541
EmailAddress:Isalesin@honigman.com

(2) IftoG&/:

G&IV/11PiedmontPlazaLLC
c/oDRAAdvisorsLLC
220East42ndStreet(270Floor)
NewYork,NewYork10017
Attention:DavidLuskiandMatthewD.Shore
FacsimileNumber:(212)697-7403
EmailAddress:dluski@draadvisors.comandmshore@draadvisors.com

Withacopyto:

DavidJ.Wiener,P.A.
2240Northwest190Street,Suite801
BocaRaton,Florida33431
Attention:DavidJ.Wiener,Esq.
FacsimileNumber:(561)361-8898
EmailAddress:dwiener@woolbright.net

(3) IftoApopkaRetail:

ApopkaRetailDST
c/oInlandPrivateCapitalCorporation
2901ButterfieldRoad
OakBrook,Illinois60523
Attention:DanielZatioukal
FacsimileNumber:(630)645-3783
EmailAddress:Daniel.zatioukal@inlandgroup.com

Withacopyto:

TheInlandRealEstateGroup,Inc.
2901ButterfieldRoad
OakBrook,lilinois60523

144



Attention:GeneralCounsel
FacsimileNumber:(630)218-4900
EmailAddress:bbaum@inlandgroup.com

TheaddressofeachPrimeLesseeshallbedesignatedbysuchPrimeLesseebygivingwritten
noticeofsuchaddresstotheownerofeachParcelandtotheotherPrimeLesseeinthemannersetforthabove."

(j) EstoppelCertificates.Notlaterthantwenty(20)daysfollowingthedateuponwhichtheownerofanyParcel
(the"RequestingOwner")shalldeliverawrittenrequesttotheownerofanyotherParcel(the"Recipient"),theRecipientshalldelivertothe
RequestingOwneracertificate(i)statingthatthisDeclarationisunmodifiedandinfullforceandeffectoriftherehavebeenmodifications,
thatitisinfullforceandeffectasmodifiedinthemannerspecifiedinthecertificate,(ii)statingwhethertheRecipientholdsalienonthe
RequestingOwner'sParcelwhichhasarisenunderthetermsofthisDeclaration(andifsuchlienexists,specifyingthethencurrentamount
securedthereby),(iii)statingwhether,totheknowledgeoftheRecipient,anyeventhasoccurredwhichwillgivetheRecipienttherightto
imposealienontheRequestingOwner'sParcel,(iv)statingwhether,totheknowledgeoftheRecipient,anydefaultsonthepartofthe
RequestingOwnerunderthisDeclarationthenexistandremainuncured,andifso,describingsuchdefault(s),and(v)providingsuchother
informationregardingthisDeclarationandthemattersreferredtohereinastheRequestingOwnermayhavereasonablyrequested.

(k) AGR,G&IandApopkaRetailherebyagreethattheDeclarationshallbeandisherebymodifiedbytheadditionofthe
followingprovisionasnewSection11.5thereof:

11.5. PublicLiabilityInsurance;Indemnity.

A. TheownerofeachParcelshallatalltimesmaintain(orcausetobemaintained)commercial
liabilityinsurancewithrespecttosuchParcel,insuringagainsttherisksofbodilyinjury,deathandpropertydamagewithcombinedsinglelimits
ofnotlessthan$1,000,000.00,suchinsurancecoverage(i)tobewrittenonan"occurrence"(ratherthana"claimsmade")basis,(ii)tonameas
additionalinsuredstheownersoftheotherParcelsandtheirrespectivemortgagee(s)(providedthatwrittennoticeofthename[s]andaddress[es]
ofsuchmortgagee[s]shallhavebeenprovidedinadvancetotheowneroftheParcelwhoshallbeprocuringsuchinsurance),and(iii)toprovide,
(A)ifthesameshallbereadilyavailablewithotadditionalcost,thatsuchpolicymaynotbecanceledormodifiedwithoutatleastten(10)days'
priorwrittennoticetotheownersoftheotherParcels(andtotheirrespectivemortgagee[s]astowhichsuchwrittennoticeshallhavebeen
provided)or(B)ifthenoticedescribedintheforegoingclause(A)shallnotbereadilyavailablewithoutadditionalcost,thatatleastten(10)days'
priorwrittennoticeofnon-paymentofpremiumshallbeprovidedtotheownersoftheotherParcels(andtotheirrespectivemortgagee[s]asto
whichsuchwrittennoticeshallhavebeenprovided).TheownerofeachParcelshallprovidetheownersoftheotherParcels(andtheirrespective
mortgagee[s]astowhichsuchwrittennoticeshallhavebeenprovided)onorbeforetheeffectivedateofthepolicy,aduplicatepolicyorcertificate
evidencingtheinsurancerequiredhereunderandstatingthatsuchinsuranceisinfullforceandeffect,andthatthepremiumsthereforhavebeen
paid.

B. TheownerofeachPamel(an"IndemnifyingOwner")shall,anddoeshereby,indemnify,defendand
agreetosaveandholdharmlesstheownersoftheotherParcelsandtherespectiveofficers,directors,stockholders,members,trustees,partners,
principals,managers,employees,agents,contractors,tenants,licenseesandmortgagee(s)ofsuchotherowners(collectively,the"IndemniledParties")
fromandagainstallclaims,demands,suits,actions,judgments,losses,damages,liabilities,costsandexpensespaidand/orincurredbythe
IndemniledParties,oranyofthem,whichariseoutoforresultfromorareinanywayrelatedto:(i)theuse,occupancyand/orenjoymentbythe
IndemnifyingOwnerorbysuchIndemnifyingOwner's"Permittees"(ashereinatterdefined)oftheIndemnifyingOwner'sParcel,ortheCommonAreas,
ortheeasementsand/orotherrightsgrantedto.theIndemnifyingOwnerbythisDeclaration;(ii)anyactivity,workorthingsdone,permittedor
sufferedinorabouttheShoppingCenterbysuchindemnifyingOwnerorbysuchIndemnifyingOwner'sPermittees;(iii)anyfailurebysuchindemnifying
OwnerorbysuchindemnifyingOwner'sPermitteestomaintainitsParcel,ortocausesuchParceltobemaintained,inasafeconditionincompliance
withallapplicablelaws,ordinances,codes,rules,regulationsand/orrequirements;(iv)anyotheractoromissionofsuchIndemnifyingOwneror
suchIndemnifyingOwner'sPermittees;(v)anybreachofthisDeclarationbysuchIndemnifyingOwnerorbysuchindemnifyingOwner'sPermittees;
and(vi)anybodilyinjuty(includingdeath),propertydamageand/ornuisancearisingoutofresultingfrom,orrelatedtoanyoftheforegoing,
and/orcausedorallegedtohavebeencausedbysuchIndemnifyingOwnerorbysuchindemnifyingOwner'sPermittees.Theforegoingindemnities
indemnityincludeallreasonableattorneys'feesatalllevelsofproceedings,includingappeals,bankruptcyandcollectionsandallotherexpensesand
liabilitiesincurredinrelationtosuchclaim.EachindemniledPartyshallgivepromptandtimelynoticetotheownersoftheotherParcelsofany
claimmadeorsuitoractioncommencedagainstsuchindemnifiedPartywhichinanywaywouldresultinindemnificationunderthisDeclaration.
EachIndemnifyingOwnershalldefendtheIndemnifiedPartiesutilizingcounselreasonablyacceptabletotheIndemniledParties.Asusedherein,the
term"Permittees"shallmeanandrefer,collectively,tothetenantsorotheroccupantsoftheIndemnifyingOwner'sParcelandtoofficers,directors,
stockholdeis,members,trustees,partners,principals,managers,employees,agents,contractorsandlicenseesoftheIndemnifyingOwnerorsuch
tenantsorotheroccupants.TheindemnityprovidedinthisSection11.58shallextendtoanyandallclaims,losses,costs,damagesand/orexpenses
paidand/orincurredbytheIndemniledPartiesarisingoutoforresultingfromthehandlingordisposalofHazardousWasteMaterials(asdefined
below)bytheIndemnifyingOwneroritsPermittees.IntheeventanyoftheIndemnifiedPartiesshallbemadepartytoanylitigationorproceeding
commencedagainsttheIndemnifyingOwneroritsPermitteesrelatingtoanysuchhandlingordisposalofHazardousWasteMaterials,thenthe
IndemnifyingOwnershallprotect,indemnify,andholdthesuchIndemnifiedParty(ies)harmlessfromandagainst,andtheIndemnifyingOwner
shallpayallreasonablecosts,expensesandreasonableattomeys'fees(bothtrialandappellatefees)incurredorpaidbysuchindemnified
Parly(ies)inconnectionwithsuchlitigationorproceeding.ForthepurposesofthisSection11.58,"HazardousWasteMaterials"shallmeanany
materialwhichcouldgiverisetoliabilityunder(a)theResourcesConseivationRecoveryActasamendedbytheHazardousandSolidWaste
Amendmentsof1984,asnoworhereafteramended,42U.S.C.Sections6901etseq.;(b)theComprehensiveEnvironmentalResponse,
CompensationandLiabilityActasamendedbytheSuperfundAmendmentsandReauthorizationActof1986,asnoworhereafteramended,42

145



U.S.C.Sections9601etseq.;(c)theToxicSubstancesandControlAct,asnoworhereafteramended,15U.S.C.Sections2601etseq.;(d)the
CleanAirAct,asnoworhereafteramended,42U.S.C.Sections7401etseq.;(e)anyFloridastatutegoverningthegeneration,storage,
disposition,releaseorexistenceofhazardoussubstances;(f)anycommonlawtheorybasedonnuisanceorstrictIlability;and(g)anyother
applicablelaw.

4. OtherMiscellaneousMatters.Unlessotherwiseindicated,capitalizedtermsusedhereinshallhavethemeanings,
respectively,ascribedtothemintheDeclaration.AGR,G&landApopkaRetailherebyratifyandconfirmtheDeclaration,asamendedby
thisSecondAmendment,andexpresslyacknowledgeandagreethattheDeclaration,asamendedbythisSecondAmendment,remainsand
shallcontinueinfullforceandeffectuponandsubjecttothetermsandconditionsthereof.Intheeventofanyconflictbetweentheterms
andprovisionsoftheDeclarationandthetermsandprovisionsofthisSecondAmendment,thetermsandprovisionsofthisSecond
Amendmentshalltakeprecedenceandcontrol.Eachpartyheretodoesherebyacknowledgeandagreethatneitheroftheotherparties
heretohasmadeorismakinganywarranties,representations,promisesorstatements,excepttotheextentthatthesameareexpresslyset
forthinthisSecondAmendment.ThisSecondAmendmentandallthetermsandprovisionshereofshallinuretothebenefitofandbebinding
uponallpartiesheretoandtheirrespectiveheirs,personalrepresentatives,administrators,executors,successorsandassigns.This
Agreementmaybeexecutedincounterparts,eachofwhichshallbedeemedanoriginal;andsuchcounterpartswhentakentogethershall
constitutebutoneagreement.

[SignaturesAppearontheFollowingPages]

146



INWITNESSWHEREOF,thepartiesheretohavecausedthisSecondAmendmenttobedulyexecutedintheirrespectivenames
thedayandyearfirstabove-written.

Signed,SealedandDelivered "AGR":
inthePresenceof:

AgreeApopkaFL,LLC
aDel arelimitedliabilitycompany

By:
Nam :LaithHermiz
Titl: AuthorizedRepresenta

'

STATEOF / (

COUNTY OF

Theforegoinginstrumentwasacknowledgedbeforeme this@ dayof 0 ,2016,byLaithHermiz,theAuthorizedRepresentative
ofAgreeApopkaFL,LLC,aDelawarelimitedliabilitycompany,whoi rson nown orhasproduced (type
ofidentification)asidentificationandwhodidnottakeanoath.

PrintName:

(SEAL) My CommissionExpires: LORELEIHEINMILLER
My CommissionNo.: NotaryPublic,StateofMichigan

CountyofOakland
MyCommissionExpiresJ 17,2018

ActingintheCountyof a

147



INWITNESS WHEREOF, thepartiesheretohavecausedthisSecondAmendmenttobedulyexecutedintheirrespectivenames
thedayandyearfirstabove-written.

Signed,SealedandDelivered "G&I"
inthePresenceof:

G&IVIllPiedmontPlazaLLC,
aDelawarelimitedliabilitycompany

By: G&IVIllinvestmentPiedmontPlazaLLC,
aDelawarelimitedliabilitycompany,itsManager

By:
Name: David Gray

I Title: Vice Presider t

STATE OF

COUNTY OF 7) OF

Th fore ng ns mentwas acknowledgedbeforeme this 6day ofAugust,2016,by )#Ud as

fl%Ye /2 ofG&IVillInvestmentPiedmontPlazaLLC,a DelawareImitedliabilitycompany,theManagerofG&IVill
PiedmontPlazaLLC,a Delawarelimitedliabilitycompany,who isp orhasproduced (typeof

identification)asidentificationandwhodidnottakeanoath.

NOTARY PU IC
PrintName: 7/ ;

(SEAL) My Commissio xpires:

NAZARA An York
My CommissionNo.:

Notary
PN TiW\6317817

Comm
Edxrn nC 2,2019

148



INWITNESSWHEREOF,thepartiesheretohavecausedthisSecondAmendmenttobedulyexecutedintheirrespectivenames
thedayandyearfirstabove-written.

Signed,SealedandDelivered "Apopka"
inthePresenceof:

ApopkaRetailDST,
aDelawarestatutorytrust

By: NationalRetailPortfolioIIExchange,L.L.C.,
aDelawarelimitedliabilitycompany,itssignatorytrustee

By: inlandPrivateCapitalCorporation,
aDelawarecorporation,itssolemember

B-

STATEOF (7101

COUNTY OF

The foreginginstrumentwas acknowledgedbeforeme this ay of &&.1 2016,by NAle/&/- s
9, V)* ofInlandPrivateCapitalCorporation,aDelawarecorporation,thesolememberofNationa)RetailPortfolioII

Exchange,L.L.C.,a Delawarelimitedliabilitycompany,thesignatorytrusteeofApopkaRetailDST,a Delawarestatutorytrust,whois
personallyknowntome orhasproduced/7tlinwr5/Redtypeofidentification)asidentificationandwhodidnottakeanoath.

OfficialSeal 44 .
SusanE Hehn NOTARY PUBLIC

My
NotaryP

Ep so j018 PrintName &/4// E. 4/Gl-ff

MyCommissionExpires:/2 -C,-ff
My CommissionNo.:Af@**

149



Exhibit"A"

LegalDescriptionofShoppingCenter

PARCEL 1:

FROM THENORTHEAST CORNER OF THESOUTHWEST 1/4OF THE SOUTHEAST1/4OF SECTION12,TOWNSHIP21SOUTH,
RANGE 28EAST,ORANGE COUNTY,FLORIDA,RUN SOUTH 00,04'05"EASTALONG THE EASTLINEOF THESOUTHWEST 1/4
OF THESOUTHEAST 1/4OF SAIDSECTION12A DISTANCEOF 131.04FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 89*18'52"WEST ALONG
THE SOUTH RIGHTOF WAY LINEOF STATEROAD #436,726.02FEETTO THE POINTOF BEGINNING;THENCE RUN SOUTH
00.41'O8"WEST 97.14FEET;THENCE RUN 46.32FEETALONG THEARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHWESTERLY HAVINGA
RADIUSOF 60FEETAND A CENTRALANGLEOF 44.14'07";THENCE RUN SOUTH 44"55'15"WEST 62.55FEET;THENCE RUN
48.31FEETALONG THEARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLYHAVINGA RADIUSOF 60FEETAND A CENTRAL
ANGLE OF 46.29'20";THENCE RUN NORTH 89055'15"EAST277.66FEET;THENCE RUN SOUTH 00.04'45"EAST304.00FEET;
THENCE RUN SOUTH 89"55'15"WEST 805.64FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 00.19'21"WEST 10.36FEETTO THE SOUTHEAST
CORNER OF THE NORTH 660FEETOF THEEAST198FEETOF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4OF THE SOUTHEAST1/4OF SECTION
12;THENCE RUN NORTH 89.17'39"WEST 19.87FEETALONG THESOUTH LINEOF SAIDNORTH 660FEETOF THE EAST198
FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 19007'16"WEST 133.66FEET;THENCE RUN NORTHEASTERLY169.35FEETALONG THEARC OF
A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE EASTHAVINGA RADIUSOF 349.00AND A CENTRALANGLE OF 27.48'11";THENCE RUN NORTH
89.55'15"EAST576.48FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 00*41'O8"EAST38.97FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 44.55'15"EAST78.34
FEET;THENCE RUN 46.32FEETALONG THEARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE NORTHWESTERLY HAVINGA RADIUSOF 60FEET
AND A CENTRALANGLE OF 44.14'07";THENCERUN NORTH 00.41'O8"EAST91.11FEET;THENCE RUN SOUTH 89.18'52"EAST
36.00FEETALONG THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAYLINEOF STATEROAD #436TO THE POINTOF BEGINNING.

LESSAND EXCEPTTHEREFROM THEFOLLOWINGLAND LOCATED INORANGE COUNTY,FLORIDA:

FROM THESOUTHEASTCORNER OF THESOUTHWEST 1/4OF SECTION12TOWNSHIP21SOUTH,RANGE 28EAST,ORANGE
COUNTY,FLORIDA,RUN NORTH 00.19'21"WEST 682.94FEETALONG THE EASTLINEOF SAIDSOUTHWEST 1/4OF SECTION
12TOWNSHIP21SOUTH,RANGE 28EAST;THENCE RUN NORTH 89*17'39"WEST 8.22FEETTO THE POINTOF BEGINNING;
THENCE CONTINUENORTH 89.17'39"WEST 11.65FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 19.0716"WEST 40.65FEET;THENCE RUN
SOUTHEASTERLY45.97FEETALONG THEARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY HAVINGA RADIUSOF 316.57
FEET,A CENTRALANGLE OF 08.19'11"AND A CHORD OF 45.93FEETTHATBEARSSOUTH 32.55'36"EASTTO THE POINTOF
BEGINNING.

150



PARCEL 11:

FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4OF THE SOUTHEAST1/4OF SECTION12,TOWNSHIP21SOUTH,
RANGE 28EAST,ORANGE COUNTY,FLORIDA,RUN SOUTH 00.04'45"EASTALONG THE EASTLINEOF THE SOUTHWEST il4
OF THESOUTHEAST 1/4OF SAIDSECTION12,A DISTANCEOF 131.04FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 89*18'52"WEST ALONG
THESOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAYLINEOF STATEROAD NO.436,495.0FEETTO THE POINTOF BEGINNING;THENCE RUN SOUTH
00*04'45"EAST 1204.62FEETALONG THE WEST LINEOF THE EAST495.00FEETOF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4OF THE
SOUTHEAST 1/4OF SAIDSECTION12;THENCE RUN NORTH 89*46'08"WEST,759.80FEETALONG THE SOUTH LINEOF SAID
SECTION12;THENCE RUN NORTH 00*19'21"WEST 75.00FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 89.46'08"WEST,17.00FEET;
THENCE RUN NORTH 00*19'21"WEST,238.84FEET;THENCE RUN TO THE LEFT270.35FEETALONG THEARC OF A CURVE
CONCAVE TO THE WEST HAVINGA RADIUSOF 824.00FEETAND A CENTRALANGLE OF 18.47'54";THENCE RUN NORTH
19*07'16"WEST,49.80FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 00"19'21"WEST 47.65FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 89.55'15"EAST,
805.64FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 0*04'45"WEST,304.00FEET;THENCE RUN SOUTH 89.55'15"WEST 277.66FEET;
THENCE RUN NORTHEASTERLY48.31FEETALONG THEARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST HAVINGA
RADIUSOF 60.00FEETAND A CENTRALANGLE OF 46.25'20";THENCE RUN NORTH 44*55'15"EAST,62.66FEET;THENCE
RUN NORTHERLY46.32FEETALONG THEARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE WEST HAVINGA RADIUSOF 60.00FEETAND
A CENTRALANGLE OF 44*14'07";THENCE RUN NORTH 0041'O8"EAST97.14FEET;THENCE RUN SOUTH 89*18'52"EAST,
231.02FEETALONG THESOUTHERLYRIGHT-0F-WAYLINEOF STATEROAD NO.436TO THE POINTOF BEGINNING.

AND

FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4OF SECTION12,TOWNSHIP 21SOUTH,
RANGE 28EAST,ORANGE COUNTY,FLORIDA,RUN SOUTH 0004'45"EASTALONG THE EASTLINEOF THESOUTHWEST 1/4
OF THESOUTHEAST 1/4OF SAIDSECTION12,A DISTANCEOF 131.04FEET;THENCE RUN NORTH 89*18'52"WEST,762.02
FEETALONG THE SOUTH LINEOF STATEROAD NO.436TO THE POINTOF BEGINNING;THENCE RUN SOUTH 00*41'08"
WEST,91.11FEET;THENCE RUN SOUTHWESTERLY 46.32FEETALONG THEARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE
NORTHWEST HAVINGA RADIUSOF 60.00FEETAND A CENTRALANGLE OF 44*14'07";THENCE RUN SOUTH 44*55'15"
WEST,78.34FEET;THENCE RUN SOUTH 00.41'08"WEST,38.57FEET;THENCE RUN SOUTH 89*55'15"WEST,576.48FEET;
THENCE RUN NORTHEASTERLY171.75FEETALONG AN ARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST HAVINGA
RADIUSOF 349.00FEET,A CENTRALANGLE OF 28.11'49"AND A CHORD OF 170.02FEETTHATBEARS NORTH 22*46'50"
EAST;THENCE RUN 89.50FEETNORTHEASTERLYALONG THEARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE NORTHWEST HAVINGA
RADIUSOF 346.57FEETAND A CENTRALANGLE OF 14*47'48";THENCE RUN SOUTH 89"18'52"EASTALONG THE
SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAYLINE,A DISTANCEOF 176.33FEET;THENCE SOUTH 00*41'08"SEC WEST,A DISTANCEOF 55.47
FEET;THENCE SOUTH 89018'52"EAST,A DISTANCEOF 6.10FEET;THENCE SOUTH 18.26'58"EAST,A DISTANCEOF
107.56FEET;THENCE SOUTH 12.29'48"EAST,A DISTANCEOF 38.49FEET;THENCE NORTH 89*42'49"EAST,A DISTANCE
OF 108.27FEET;THENCE NORTH 00.17'11"WEST,A DISTANCEOF 16.23FEET;THENCE NORTH 89042'49"EAST,A
DISTANCEOF 34.86FEET;THENCE NORTH 00,41'08"EAST,A DISTANCEOF 175.91FEET;THENCE SOUTH 89*18'52"EAST,
A DISTANCEOF 171.85FEETTO THEPOINTOF BEGINNING.

LESSAND EXCEPTANY PORTIONOF THEABOVE-DESCRIBEDPROPERTIESLYINGWITHINPIEDMONT-WEKlVAROAD AS IT
NOW EXISTS;

AND LESSLAND CONVEYED TO ORANGE COUNTY BY SPECIALWARRANTY DEED RECORDED INOFFICIALRECORDS BOOK
3968,PAGE 1781,PUBLICRECORDS OF ORANGE COUNTY,FLORIDA.

AND

THENON-EXCLUSIVEEASEMENTSAS DEFINEDINTHE DECLARATIONOF RESTRICTIONSAND GRANT OF EASEMENTS,
RECORDED FEBRUARY 12,1985INOFFICIALRECORDS BOOK 3606,PAGE 2156;AND THEAMENDMENT THERETO
RECORDED INOFFICIALRECORDS BOOK 6330,PAGE 3654;TOGETHER WITHTHEASSIGNMENTTHEREOF RECORDED IN
OFFICIALRECORDS BOOK 7172,PAGE 1114,PUBLICRECORDS OF ORANGE COUNTY,FLORIDA.

151



PARCEL Ill:

COMMENCE AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THESOUTHWEST 1/4OF THESOUTHEAST 1/4OF SECTION12,TOWNSHIP21
SOUTH,RANGE 28EAST.ORANGE COUNTY,FLORIDA;RUN THENCE SOUTH 00*04'45"
EASTALONG THE EASTLINEOF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4OF SAIDSECTION12,A DISTANCEOF 131.04
FEET;THENCE NORTH 89.18'52"WEST ALONG THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINEOF STATEROAD NO.436A DISTANCEOF
933.87FEETFOR A POINTOF BEGINNING;THENCE SOUTH
00*41'O8"WEST A DISTANCEOF 175.91FEET;THENCE SOUTH 89.42'49"WEST A DISTANCEOF 34.86FEET;THENCE SOUTH
00.1711"EASTA DISTANCEOF 16.23FEET;THENCE SOUTH 89"42'49"WEST A DISTANCEOF 108.27FEET;THENCE NORTH
12*29'41"WEST A DISTANCEOF 38.49FEET;THENCE NORTH 18*26'58"WEST A DISTANCEOF 107.56FEET;THENCE NORTH
89.18'S2"WEST A DISTANCEOF 6.10FEET;THENCE NORTH 00.41'O8"EASTA DISTANCEOF 55.47FEETTO A POINTON SAID
SOUTH
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE;THENCE SOUTH 89.18'52"EASTA DISTANCEOF 192.97FEETTO THE POINTOF BEGINNING.

152



ovo a wson

n urrr

LUOO 1

LL

asedywoopnoa-

Re
** e ass

153



Exhibit

"C'

Rendering

of
Fagade

of
Building

Containing

Former

Zayre/K-Mart

Store

Premises

I

O

WESTELEVATION
B
PPOPOSED

FACADE

MODIFJCATIONS

was

w
re

OA

PART1AL

NORTH

ELEVATION

mum

a

PPOPOSED

FACADE

MODIFICATIONS

see

sw
w

seas

Imam

ACS.01

F

154



LIMITS

OF
BEALL'S

BAY

.

CEN

ENE

OF
ENTRY

.

*

CENTERLINE

OF
BEALL'S

,

LIMITS

OF
BEALUS

BAY

LINE
OF
ExisTIN

BTOREFRONT

FEATURE

PROPODOOD

GNAGE

SPACE

PROPOSED

ADDED

CANOPY

,oo-

To

EE-

LOD

FRONT

ELEVATION

TO
BE
REMOYED

I

SCALE

1/16"

=
160"

MMMM

MMM

155



Exhibit

"D"

Rendering

of
Exterior

Elevations

of
New

One

and
Two

Story

Building

OO

DImma

'
I

I

I

II

I

I

--

ri

I

O

WEST

ELEVATION

JOBNUMER

15054

BCALE

1/16"

f-On

SCALE

JLS
NOTED

b

PROJECT

DATE

15BUE

DATE

5.15.16

BIP
DAFE

cowerCHECKEDwr

MW

MMENE

MCHM

PLANTYPE

PROPOSED

BUILDINGS

'0'

&

'E

ER

AC5.01E

156



Exhibit"E"

Rendering

ofExterior

Elevations

ofNew
Free4tanding

Building

PRELIMINARY

FRONT

FACADE

1/B"

f
O"

F1

FITT

71

0

-

-

F

ST

III

IIII

I
III'
o

e.
III

III;

III

I
iti

:.II

IIi

.1:11

<co

O

PRELIMINARY

REAR

FACADE

1/8"

=
f-O"

A

E

(

Zm

4

Og

2

asL.t..I25" am

seas

sus

assures

cramer

|
aph

1-.r

I
w

lo....

Iwarmerom

Ware

I

a

--

05.01

0

157



Exhibit

7

Rendering

of
Rendering

of
Fagade

of
Building

Containing

Hobby

Lobby

Store

Premises

IAla

I

PARTIAL

NORTH

ELEVATION

PPOPOSEDFACADEMODIFICATIONS

scan

me--ra

FACADE

MODIFICATION

"2

^cs.oi

c

158



Exhibit"G-1"

159



W

M

HOBBY

LOBBY

184"xS4"

TENANT

DC

,

80.5"x34"

TENANT

TENANT

80.5"x18.8"

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

43.5"x18.5"

160



Exhibit"G-2"

161



W

W

D

f--

DC

,

184"x34"

TENANT

HOBBY

80.8"x34"

LOBBY

TENANT

TENANT

80.5"x18.5"

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

43.5"x18.5"

162



Exhibit"G-3"

163



W

W

HOBBY

oz

LOBBY

*

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

TENANT

164



JOINDERAND CONSENT OF PRIMELESSEE

HobbyLobbyStores,Inc.,a_ corporation,lesseeofcertainpremiseslocatedwithintherealpropertyreferredtoas"Parcel1"in
theforegoingSecondAmendmenttoDeclarationofRestrictionsandGrantofEasements,doesherebyjoininandconsenttothetermsand
provisionsofsaidSecondAmendmentanddoesherebyfurtherapproveandratifythe"Declaration"(assaidtermisdefinedinsaidSecond
Amendment).TheundersignedbyexecutingthisJoinderandConsentacknowledgesandagreesthattheexercisebyanypartyofitsrights
undertheDeclaration,asmodifiedherein,shallnotresultinadefaultunderthetermsofitsLeasedatedOctober30,2013forpremises
withinParcelI.

INWITNESSWHER OF,Hobb Lobby res,Inc.hascausedthesepresentstobeexecutedinitsnameanditscorporatesealtobe
hereuntoaffixedthis dayof 016.

Signed,sealed,anddelivered HobbyLobbyStores,Inc,a poration
inthepresenceof:

PrintName:

STATEOF )

COUNTY OF
)SS:

Theforegoinginstrumentwasacknowledgedbeforeme tis.6day of A __ ,2016,by6>f\d\ AV\\ as
PresidentofHobbyLobbyStores,Inc.a (corporation,who ispersonallyknownto e or has produced

(typeofidentification)asidentificationandwhodidnottakeanoath.

WITNESSmy handandofficialsealintheCountyandStatelastaforesaidthis dayof ,2016.

.ss.,,,, N ARY PUBLIC
PrintName:

(SEAL) , My CommissionExpires:
?
osoli12oeI My CommissionNo.:

165



JOINDERAND CONSENT OF PRIMELESSEE

Beall'sDepartmentStores,Inc.,a Floridacorporation,lesseeofcertainpremiseslocatedwithintherealpropertyreferredtoas
"ParcelII"intheforegoingSecondAmendmenttoDeclarationofRestrictionsandGrantofEasements,doesherebyjoininand
consenttothetermsandprovisionsofsaidSecondAmendmentanddoesherebyfurtherapproveandratifythe"Declaration"
(assaidtermisdefinedinsaidSecondAmendment).

AsbetweentheownerofParcelII(whichisPrimeLessee'sLandlord)andPrimeLesseeandnothinghereinshallbedeemed
toamendorotherwisemodifyPrimeLessee'sLeaseinanywaywhatsoeverortoincreasetheamountspayablebyPrime
LesseethereunderortoincreaseanyoftheobligationsofPrimeLesseethereunder,

INWITNESS WHEREOF, Beall'sDepartmentStores,Inc.hascausedthesepresentstobe executedinitsname andits
corporatesealtobehereuntoaffixedthis30thdayofAugust,2016.

BEALL'SDEPARTMENT STORES,INC.,

By:
Signture M TS ARTWOOD, -

UK VP -StoreOperationsandRealEstate
PrintedName

Sinature

0146 180638thAvenueE.,Bradenton,FL34208
PrintedName Address

STATEOF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF MANATEE

Theforegoinginstrumentwassubscribedandsworntobeforeme this30*dayofAugust,2016,byMATT SWARTWOOD, asVP
- StoreOperationsandRealEstateofBEALL'SDEPARTMENT STORES,INC.,

whoispersonallyknowntome,
whoproduced asidentification,

andwhoacknowledgedbeforeme thatheexecutedthesamefreelyandvoluntarilyforthepurposesthereinexpressedunder

authoritydulyvestedinhimbysaidcorporation.

My CommissionExpires: 8 gg ML .

Signature

PrintName

NOTARY PUBLIC-STATEOF FLORIDA
CommissionNo, S ( oc k. 0

MARY0.SCHULTZ
NotaryPublic-StateofFlorida

*jMyComm.ExpiresSep18,2017
Commission# FF022013

BondedThroughNationalNotaryAssn.

166



I

CONSENT OF MORTGAGEE

The undersigned,WellsFargoBank,NationalAssociation,astrusteefortheregisteredholdersof
JP Morgan Chase CommercialMortgageSecuritiesTrust2011-C4,CommercialMortgagePass-
Through Certificates,Series2011-C4,isthecurrentbeneficiaryunderthatcertainMortgage,
AssignmentofLeasesandRentsand SecurityAgreement(the"Mortgage")datedApril13,2011,
in theoriginalprincipalamount of $12,000,000.00,which saidMortgage encumbers and/or
affectstherealpropertyreferredto as "ParcelIII"in the foregoingSecond Amendment to
DeclarationofRestrictionsand GrantofEasements(the"Easement")and herebyconsentstothe
provisionsofsaidEasement.

WellsFargoBank,NationalAssociation,astrusteefor
theregisteredholdersofJP Morgan ChaseCommercial
MortgageSecuritiesTrust2011-C4,Commercial
MortgagePass-ThroughCertificates,Series2011-C4

By:MidlandLoan Services,a DivisionofPNC Bank,
NationalAssociation,itsattorney-in-factandMaster
Servicer

By:
Name: dry L. FarIand
Title: S (Ryesidt@tryicingOfficer

ServicingOfficer

STATE OF KANSAS )

) ss.
COUNTY OF JOHNSON )

On thi y of LAO Ot" ,2016,bef rem aNotaryPublicinandfortheStateof
Kansas,personallyappeare 0 11'k r I , personallyknown to be theperson
who executedthisinstrument,on oathstatedthathe was authorizedtoexecutetheinstrument,
and aclaxowledgedthathe istheSeniorVice Presidentand ServicingOfficerof MidlandLoan
Services,a Divisionof PNC Bank, NationalAssociation,tobe thefreeand voluntaryactand
deedofsaidcompany fortheusesandpurposesmentionedintheinstrument.

IN WYTNESS WHEREOF, Ihavehereuntosetmy handand officialsealthedayandyear
firstabovewritten.

cy aY UBLIC inandfortheStateofKansas.

167


	Top
	1 06-12-17 - PC - Minutes - May 9, 2017 (Regular)
	PC 05-09-17 Minutes.pdf

	2 06-12-17 - PC - Minutes - May 23, 2017 (Special)
	PC 05-23-17 sp Minutes.pdf

	1. 06-12-17 - PC - Special Exception - Miracle Grace Academy
	1 Miracle Grace Academy Spec Excp PC 06-12-17.pdf
	2 Miracle Grace Academy Spec Excp PC 05-24-16 Staff Rpt.pdf
	3 Exhibit B - PC 05-24-16 Sp Minutes.pdf

	2. 06-12-17 - PC - Public Hearing - ZON - Thompson Hills Estates (Oak Pointe South PUD)
	1 Oak Pointe (South) PUD - ZON - PC 06 12 17.pdf
	2 Pool House Rendering.pdf
	3Townhome Renderings.pdf
	4 South Entrance Gate.pdf
	5 Oak Pointe Master Plan PDP.pdf
	6 Code Inconsistencies.pdf

	1. 06-13-17 - PC - Site Plan - FDP - Lake Lucie Equestrial Trail Head
	1 Lake Lucie Equestrian Trailhead Staff Report for Planning Commission June 12 2017.pdf
	2 Lake Lucie Equestrian Trailhead Final Development Plan set.pdf

	2. 06-12-17 - PC - Site Plan - Piedmont Plaza Master Sign Plan
	1 Completed PC 6-12-17 Staff Report Piedmont Plaza.pdf

	Bottom

